# AN INVESTIGATION INTO THE ROLE OF INSTITUIONS IN THE CHINA – VISEGRÁD 4 ECONOMIC COOPERATION

By: Máté Koszér





MSc China and International Relations - Master Thesis

Aalborg University

University of International Relations - 国际关系学院



Supervisor A: Chen Weiguo Supervisor B: Li Xing Character count: 165 312 Email: mkosze14@student.aau.dk

## Abstract

With a new globalized face, the People's Republic of China brings several possibilities when it comes to transnational cooperation. Rapid economic development in the country, turned China into a significant player in the global market. Initiatives like the new Belt and Road projects, or the 17+1 cooperation platform, proposes significant alternatives for countries. After the launch of the BRI in 2013, a wider framework regarding international cooperation was created for China, which puts their Asian, African, and European relations to a new perspective. As a result of the 17+1 platform a major attention has been paid by Central Eastern European states towards Chinese initiatives, as a result of their strategic goal to reduce dependency on other European member countries, and to promote economic development. As both the CEE region and the 17+1 platform as well would be too broad to properly investigate, this master thesis will focus on a sub-unit of the region, the Visegrád 4. The group of Visegrád represents a major unit in the region, with relatively developed economic, social, and political environment. However, there is a massive economic gap between V4 countries and other Western European states. The main goal for them is to elevate to the same level. After the collapse of the Soviet Union these countries have formed a regional union to cooperatively tackle cross-national issues. A group was form on cultural, and historical heritage, similar social norms, and goals. Their economy is highly dependent on other European countries, and the governments are looking for alternatives to reduce dependency. The V4 countries are actively seeking economic partners outside of Europe, by cooperating with Russia, the US, or China. Foreign policy strategy of the V4 countries suggest, that the new Chinese initiatives are the most attractive option for them, and they dedicate significant amount of resources to deal with the PRC. When the unit of the V4 dedicates themselves to a mutual problem, they stand firm on a multilateral level to solve it; just like they all stood up against the European Union and their Migration Quota. As this example suggests, the V4 is becoming distant from the EU, and must seek further international partners. In an anarchic international environment, the role of institutions must be investigated, as they regulate the framework and influence economic development. Therefore, this paper will investigate the influence institutions have in the economic cooperation between the V4 and China.

Keywords: China – Europe cooperation, Visegrad 4, CEE, 17+1 platform, BRI, Institutions

# **Table of Contents**

1	Intro	Introduction	
	1.1	Chinese Motivation	5
	1.2	CEE Motivation	7
	1.3	Introducing the Visegrád 4	7
	1.4	The Significance of V4 Within the 17+1 Platform	8
	1.5	The Presence of Institutions	9
	1.6	Problem Formulation	9
2	Lite	rature Review	10
	2.1	Scholars' Research	10
	2.2	The Visegrád 4	14
	2.3	Institutions and Economic Development	14
	2.4	Limitations	17
3 Methodology		hodology	17
	3.1	Choice of Theory	
	3.2	Choice of Data	
	3.3	Method	
	3.4	Research Design	
	3.5	Data Limitations	
	-		
4		oretical Content	
	4.1	Neoliberal Institutionalism	
	<i>4.2</i> <i>4.2.1</i>	<b>Douglass North's Institutions, Institutional Change, Economic Performance</b> Assumptions and Analytical Framework of Douglass North	
	4.3	Limitations and Applicability of the Theories	
		29	
5	Ana	lysis	31
	5.1	The V4 Countries' Foreign Policy Towards China	31
	5.2	China's Foreign Policy Towards the V4 Group	31
	5.3	China's institutional consideration for the 17+1 platform	32
	5.4	China and the Visegrad Group economic cooperation	34
	5.5	Czech Republic	
	5.5.1 5.5.2		
	5.5.2 5.5.3		
	5.6	Hungary	Δ1
	5.6.1	· ·	
	5.6.2	Economic level	43
	5.6.3	Social Level	48

	5.7	Poland			
	5.7.1	Political Level			
	5.7.2	Economic Level			
	5.7.3	Social Level			
	5.8	Slovakia			
	5.8.1	Political Level			
	5.8.2	Economic Level			
	5.8.3	Social Level			
	5.9	Similarities and Differences of the the V4 Countries			
6	Cone	lusion			
7	Refe	rences			
8	Арр	Appendix			
	8.1	Appendix 1			
	8.2	<i>Appendix 2</i>			
	<i>8.3</i>	Appendix 3			
	8.4	Appendix 4			
	8.5	<i>Appendix 5</i>			
	8.6	Appendix 6			
	<b>8.</b> 7	Appendix 7			
	8.8	Appendix 8			
	8.9	Appendix 974			
	8.10	Appendix 10			
	8.11	Appendix 11			
	8.12	Appendix 12			
	8.13	<i>Appendix 13</i>			

# **1** Introduction

China has evolved enormously, and experienced significant changes over the last 40 years. The Asian giant did not only achieve significant power domestically but on an international level as well. The PRC's significance in international relations have been increasing ever since the opening up policy in 1979. Joining ASEAN (Association of Southeast Asian Nations) in 1991 was a sign of transnational power on a domestic level and amongst Asian territories. By joining AESAN, China has strengthened its position in political, economic and social cooperation all over the Southeast Asia region (ASEAN, 2019). Internationally, the breakthrough for China came in 2001 as a consequence of long negotiations, the country got accepted in WTO (World Trade Organization). The significance of being a WTO country for China is unquestionable, as it brings several economic and political opportunities for the country. WTO serves as a "middle man" for China for trade negotiations, resolving issues with other members, and an opportunity to provide help for developing countries (WTO, 2019).

China did not only take the advantages of trade negotiations effectively but also started to support growth in under developed regions by promoting social and economic development. In 2000, as their first sign of aiding under developed regions, China initiated a multilateral agenda with African countries; therefore, the Forum on Africa – China Cooperation was launched. By virtue of accomplishments in Africa, in 2012 China turned to another region and set up the China – CEE platform in Warsaw (Information Office of the State Council, 2014). China – Central Eastern Europe (CEE) platform, or 17+1 platform includes 17 countries from the region plus China. Out of the 17 countries 12 of them are members of the European Union, (Bulgaria, Croatia, the Czech Republic, Estonia, Greece, Hungary, Latvia, Lithuania, Poland, Romania, Slovakia, and Slovenia). While the other 5 members are not yet a part of the EU, (Albania, Bosnia and Herzegovina, Macedonia, Montenegro, Serbia). According to the People's Republic of China's (PRC's) Ministry of Foreign Affairs, the idea behind the 17+1 is to promote development in the Central Eastern European region, to strengthen the ties between China and Europe, and to improve trade, investment relations (Zhifei, 2018) (Sabina Carli, 2019).

The 17+1 platform is part of China's massive foreign strategy, the Belt and Road Initiative (BRI) which can redefine international relations between the Asian giant, Europe, Africa, and Asia. Even though the 17+1 platform was established in 2012, and was introduced as an individual framework, ever since the launch of the BRI in 2013, it can be considered as part of

a larger plan. China has launched BRI in order to resurrect the ancient trading route, Silk Road (Li, 2019). BRI builds up from two main parts, two belts. The first one, a land belt, follows the ancient route of the Silk Road, and goes through West-Asia, Central-Asia, the Middle East, and Europe. While the second belt, a maritime belt, connects China with Africa, and leads all the way up the Suez Chanel into the Mediterranean Sea. BRI includes a complex system of railroads, highways, ports, oil and gas pipes; and covers around 65 % of the world population, with a staggering one third of the world's GDP. Chinese scholars and media define BRI as "business of the century", and a project that revives an ancient trading route which, for thousands of years, has been a symbol of peace, cooperation and development (Huang, 2018) (Li, 2019). Due to the BRI and foreign policy strategy the CEE countries attract a massive attention from China (Jakobowski, 2018).

## 1.1 Chinese Motivation

Over the last 40 years the PRC has experienced a rapid economic growth due to their new approach on government policies. This rapid economic growth happened in such a massive volume of an annual average of 9,72%, that China has become the second largest economy in the world, and it is just a matter of time until they replace the first one. However, in order to do that, further developments are required from political, economic and social perspectives (Lau, 2015). During the early period of 2000's, China became the largest FDI receiving market. By the end of the decade China became the largest exporter in the world, providing products all across the globe, ranking in a key position for almost all other states. While in 2009, the most import for several different states arrived from China, making them the world's largest exporter. As the growth of the export suggests, the PRC did not have immediate impact of the 2008 financial crisis but the vulnerability, and volatility of their economic growth slowly started to surface. A slow annual decrease of economic growth turned into an annual 6,7% in 2017, while became the worst by 2019 with an annual rate of 6,1% (Jakobowski, 2018). Researches argue, that by the end of 2020, China will yet again end up having a decreased volume of growth, with their economic development further slowing down. However, considering the numbers, the volume of economic growth is still noteworthy, and the current volume is still not significantly decreased compared to the previous 9,72% annual growth, regardless of the PRC's economic slowdown (Sabina Carli, 2019). Nevertheless, numbers still show a steady economic growth from year to year the economic slowdown unquestionably is in process. In relation to this slowdown China introduced a massive investment program to try to tackle the issue.

The PRC acted accordingly to requirements and allocated an enormous 44% of the country's GDP on investment programs (Jakobowski, 2018) (Sabina Carli, 2019). Within the context of this vast investment program, significant business sectors met new, revitalized government policies, which aimed to develop an efficient business strategy to promote growth, by expanding businesses, and encouraging consumption. However, the new investment policies will not be able to singlehandedly solve the question of economic slowdown. Therefore, other measures have been taken by the Xi Jinping administration to promote economic growth by new initiatives. The already introduced BRI is one of the many, recently revised strategic ideas. As part of their foreign policies, the PRC is aiming to reach new markets to overcome the issues of economic slowdown by promoting international economic cooperation. A country with so high dependency on export and investment must aim for market expansion, for which, the best way is to engage on a transnational level (Barbosa, 2018). In order to overcome the issue of economic slowdown, international operations, and new markets are key priorities for the PRC, as one the most significant matter is industrial overcapacity. The level of industrial overcapacity has exceeded a staggering 30% in sectors like steel, aluminum, iron, solar panel or even glass cement. The over productivity in these sectors are strongly linked with a high competition of the market induced by government funded low interest rate loans, and government investments in manufacturing. The production cost has considerably decreased which fundamentally leads to increased output (Sabina Carli Faris Kocan Nina Pejic, 2019). The 17+1 platform can provide an alternative solution for market expansion for China, as the CEE countries have the potential to further engage in an economic cooperation.

Furthermore, the CEE region offers other strategic advantages besides a new consumer, and capital market. Geographical location is one of those advantages, as the Western European markets are located within a very short distance from any of the member states of the 17+1. Due to this location the transportation time can be significantly reduced. In a case if Huawei manufactures or even assembles in one of the CEE countries, new products can reach German or British markets in relatively short time. Furthermore, manufacturing in an EU member state of the 17+1, under EU regulations, the new products can be labeled as "Made in EU" which draws more attraction in the new markets. The production costs in these countries are relatively larger than Chinese standards but still not as high as western European standards. This new production cost with the decreased price, and time for transportation will generate more profit. Moreover, engaging in these countries means engaging with European institutions, following

EU regulations, providing development throughout the region which all adds up to a positive image of China (Sabina Carli, 2019).

## **1.2 CEE Motivation**

Considering the motivation for cooperation within the 17+1 platform for the CEE countries, several different aspects can be mentioned. Aim for close economic, social, cultural relations in order to acquire an acquaintance with the second largest economy in the world, thus decreasing dependency on other EU member states. Improving infrastructure in the region is also seen as a key factor for cooperation due to lack of investment from EU institutions. Mainly, the 17+1 platform serves as a forum to tighten relationship with China. As it was mentioned earlier, these countries act and decide individually, therefore the motives vary. While some countries have minor goals and strategy, others have massive plans. For instance, Hungary and the Orban administration introduced the "Eastern Policy" in 2012. The core idea was that the country must look for the east in order to strengthen economic partnership with countries like Russia or China. Hungary believed that, cooperation with China can boost their economic system, which then will be less dependent on Western Europe and the European Union (Agnes Szunomar, 2017). Both the Chinese and CEE motivations for cooperation will be further discussed in the literature review section as there are multiple opinions about them, and most of the are rather relevant in understanding the problem.

## 1.3 Introducing the Visegrád 4

In order to lead this paper towards a comprehensive analysis, the focus must be narrowed down. The size, complexity of cultural backgrounds, of the CEE region is still too board, and it would be nearly impossible to analyze each and every country within one master thesis. Therefore, this thesis will put its focus on the most significant group of the region which builds up from 4 different countries. The Czech Republic, Hungary, Poland, and Slovakia add up to a group called the Visegrád 4 (V4). After the collapse of the Soviet Union and the decline of communism in Central Europe, in 1991, a meeting took place between the Czechoslovak (formally one country, now Czech Republic and Slovakia), Hungarian, and Polish prime minister in Visegrád, Hungary. Due to the similarity in culture and history, they formed an alliance which was motivated by 4 key factors. First, to completely eradicate communism from Central Europe. Second, to overcome the historical hatreds between Central European countries and support peace in the region. Third, to promote cooperation as it will lead to common goals,

such as a European integration. While the last factor was to promote political transformation (The Visegrad Group, 2019). As of today, the V4 has gained its importance, and represents a significant unit the CEE region.

#### 1.4 The Significance of V4 Within the 17+1 Platform

In the CEE region the V4 countries represent the most developed states and the highest economic stability. According to different studies, around 75% of trade between China and the CEE region occurs at this sub-region. (Turcsanyi, 2014) Moreover, within the 17+1 platform the V4 countries attract the most investment from China. (Bieliński, et al., 2019) According to a survey by the "European Attractiveness", the Central Eastern Europe region represents the fourth most attractive region in the world for investors; a region where the V4 countries are the most dominant. (Gontkovicova, 2016) The relatively powerful economy in the region started to build up from a significant amount of foreign direct investment before the financial crisis in 2008. (Fifekova & Nemcova, 2015) (Simionescu, et al., 2017). However, according to other studies, since joining the EU, the V4 countries have lost some advantages in cooperating with China due to EU regulations. (Raisova, 2007) Ever since being involved in the EU, the institutional environment has changed for the V4 countries. In comparison, the previous national institutional environment shifted to a EU centric institutional environment. All the transnational trade is supervised and regulated by EU institutions, such as the European Commission or the European Parliament. Therefore, the presence of transnational institutions became a significant part of the bilateral trade agreements. (Treaty of Lisabona, 2007) Foreign policy and strategy of the V4 countries varies, as their economic structure, and motivation towards cooperation with other countries are different. National interests always play a key significance. The earlier presented EU institutional framework highly determines trade agreements, but bilaterally several EU members have set up transnational trade agreements with countries outside the EU to promote economic cooperation, and development. These agreements are also influenced by such an institutional framework which is not necessarily regulated by the EU (Fojtikova, et al., 2017). According to researchers, monetary operations of EU member states with a third country are first supervised within EU institutional framework. Yet, individually these EU member states have set up several fiscal policies, trade strategies and signed transnational agreements with those "outside the EU" countries (Fojtikova, et al., 2017).

In a case of China, V4 countries represent an active member within the BRI framework, and offers the opportunity to strengthen their position in Europe. Beijing has proposed three ideas to further develop cooperation with the V4 countries both individually and as a unit as well. First of all, China believes that the V4 countries can serve as a perfect middleman in their European integration process due to these countries previously mentioned advantages. Furthermore, believes that a significant increase of soft power can be achieved through friendly cooperation. And as last the leading role of these countries under the 17+1 platform. (Wang, 2018).

#### **1.5** The Presence of Institutions

As the earlier paragraphs have already shown, there are several institutions that are supervising, and guiding the cooperation between China and the V4 countries. Recent years show that due to a massive level of globalization, an increasing number of transnational agreements, the role of international institutions became more significant than ever before. (MacKenzie, 2010) (Reinalda, 2009) Several researchers have come up with a definition to understand institutions. According to Ostrom, and Mearsheimer, international institutions can be understood as a "sets of rules" created to control international cooperation, and competition. While according to Keohane and North, institutions are guidelines on international cooperation, but they divide institutions to a formal, and informal subcategory and emphasize the role of organizations in the proper functioning of international institutions. (which will be later explained in the theory section). (Ostrom, 1990) (Mearsheimer, 1994-1995) (Keohane, 1984) (North, 1990) According to Mearshimer, who goes completely against Keohane and against neoliberal institutionalism, he believes that even though neoliberal and neorealist institutionalism are different they both agree on the significant role of institutions from an economic perspective. (Mearsheimer, 1994-1995) After, examining the possibilities, and current relations between the V4 countries and China, it can be understood that the institutional environment plays a massive part in achieving economic development.

#### **1.6 Problem Formulation**

To be efficient, and to acknowledge successful operations within the 17+1 framework, numerous policies, and strategies have been introduced with clear goals. Furthermore, to promote transnational cooperation, several institutions have been founded which are operating cooperatively with previous institutions to help achieve those goals. Moreover, alongside

formal institutions the presence and significance of informal institutions must be understood and analyzed. As it was presented, the size and complexity of the 17+1 platform would not lead to a comprehensive analysis, therefore, this master thesis will concentrate on the V4 sub level of the 17+1 platform. Since in the region, these countries have a higher commitment towards China which makes them more willing to cooperate, and are highly dependent on an institutional environment; the economic development is highly dependent on the efficiency of the institutions. After analyzing the possibilities for a problem formulation, this master thesis will formulate the problem question as: *"How do formal- and informal institutions influence the economic cooperation between the Visegrád 4 and China under the 17+1 platform?"* 

# 2 Literature Review

In this section this master thesis will provide an academic background to emphasize the relevancy of the problem formulation. Ideas, assumption, and theories of different researchers will be introduced in the field of China – 17+1 platform, institutionalism, V4, and limitation of the research.

## 2.1 Scholars' Research

In 2013 the inauguration of the BRI has launched a rapid interest amongst researchers towards the new initiatives. The newly introduced Chinese initiative has provided a platform for cooperation for the CEE countries with the PRC. The core for the 17+1 platform is a mutual development and cooperation in terms of politics, economics and social improvement. According to different researchers, the perception of China by the CEE member states represent a high significance in determining the level of cooperation. Based on the findings by Oehler-Şincai, the massive development achievements by China is considered as a threat by developed countries, while for developing countries it is perceived as an opportunity for development and to decrease economic dependency on the EU (Oehler-Şincai, 2018). Other researchers argue that the political history of the CEE region, the fact that all the European members of the 17+1 was highly influenced by the ideologies of the Soviet Union, and was part of the socialist community, highly add up to their participation in the framework (Vangeli, 2017) (Kowalski, 2016).

Several 17+1 transnational conferences have been established between China and the CEE countries, therefore, the concept of the 17+1 platform can be understood as a multilateral context that promotes a sub-unit of Europe to cooperate with China. Yet, many scholars believe that the 17+1 is a China dominated concept, where the Asian giant can develop bilateral relations with certain member states (Cacrli, et al., 2019). Nevertheless, the fundamental idea is to promote cooperation by transnational relations supported by the regular 17+1 official meetings, the accomplishment of the cooperation is predominantly happening on a bilateral level by individual arrangements between China and a member of the 17+1 (Stanzel, et al., 2017) (Jakobowski, 2018). Even though the relationship could be considered on a multilateral level, researchers argued that the European members lack a common, and also a national foreign policy strategy towards China (Cacrli, et al., 2019). In their China - CEE cooperation related study, the researchers Cacrli, Kocan and Pejic examined the different foreign policy strategies of the 17+1 at both multilateral and bilateral level, by applying the theoretical analysis of Dr. Vlado Benko. The essential ideologies of foreign policy analysis focuses of 3 different factors of foreign policy, values, instruments, and goals. The results showed a massive absence of official foreign policy strategy towards China. Besides Hungary's Eastern Opening Policy, which is not directly concentrated around China but countries from the East, only 5 countries of the 17+1 platform had a clear foreign policy strategy towards China (Bosnia and Hercegovina, Croatia, the Czech Republic, Poland, and Slovenia) (Cacrli, et al., 2019). A foreign policy strategy can be understood as an essential tool of a political institutions.

In order to access Western European market, the CEE region embodies a significant milestone for China. (Stanzel, 2016) By improving infrastructure in the region, China will initiate a way towards physical connectedness and economic integration with Europe. (Dragan, 2015). According to researchers there are numerous motives for China to accomplish success within the 17+1 framework. The different motivations vary from applying their policy on the CEE region, creating a positive image of China by providing development, to access European markets for both distribution and manufacturing, and to further strengthen economic exchange. (Oehler-Şincai, 2016) (Cacrli, et al., 2019) Even if the CEE countries can be considered as geographically connected, they contribute differently to the regional economic distribution of power. Therefore, China operates differently which each country from the region. According to monetary studies, CEE countries which are not member of the EU attract more Chinese Foreign Direct Investments than those member states who have easier access to EU funds (Bieliński, et al., 2019). Assuming that the dependence on foreign investment and foreign trade

results in the need for new collaborations and new markets; then Cacrli's hypotheses which implies that, by using its own foreign investments and loans, China secures new markets can be considered valid (Cacrli, et al., 2019). As part of their FDI strategy, numbers show China's preferences to invest in infrastructure projects. Infrastructure projects have a win-win ending for both China and the CEE countries. As on one hand, by developing their infrastructure, CEE countries are able to boost their economy. While on the other hand, investing in infrastructure projects, China aims for both short and long-term effects. Scholars argue, that in the short term, China boosts its export of construction, and manufacturing related materials and goods (steel, concrete and other products that are part of the overcapacity issue); and on the long term, by boosting connectivity China improves its trade relations (Cacrli, et al., 2019) (Dragan, 2015).

Essentially, the massive gap in the development of infrastructure between East and West Europe is one of the main economic motivations for the CEE countries for a tighter cooperation with China. OECD studies show that in Balkan countries, especially due to the lack of investment in Yugoslavia from both before and after the war, the average infrastructure development in the region is about 50% lower than the EU average, ranging from about 30% lower in Serbia to nearly 70% lower in Albania (OECD, 2019). Moreover, underdeveloped infrastructure is a significant problem also for the EU member countries, especially amongst the "new members" (which are mostly Central, and Eastern Europeans countries). For instance, according to a study from 2017, infrastructure gap between EU states already represents a serious issue, which may grow even larger after the 2014-2020 EU funds expire (Cacrli, et al., 2019). However, countries which are both member of 17+1 platform and the EU as well, might have difficulties in synchronizing their policies towards Chinese investments, due to EU standards and regulations. When it's a large foreign investment project, China requires state guarantees for their investment from the receiving partner states, but according to some experts these guarantees can also be opposing EU regulations on investment aid, preferential treatment of investors or other irregularities (Stanzel, 2016). This argument can explain China's interest in the Western Balkans (especially Serbia), since these countries are not yet members of the EU, thus, do not have to follow EU regulations. However, at the Sofia Summit in 2018, the 17+1 platform was presented as a part of EU-China relations, which creates a controversy with the above-mentioned (Turcsanyi, 2018). Moreover, this controversy was already addressed as early as 2014 by the Belgrade Guidelines. It was proposed that all 11 EU members (now 12) would act accordingly to EU legislations, regulations and policies (Ministry of Foreign Affairs of the PRC, 2014).

According to Svetličič's study, both the EU-China Connectivity Platform (2015) and the Riga Declaration (2016) were aimed to emphasize the different characteristics between CEE – China and EU – China relations (Svetličič, 2019). Other studies suggest that the problem is not solely about the quantity of infrastructure investment, but also about quality. According to the World Economic Forum's from 2017 and 2018, their Competitiveness Report points out that in terms of transport infrastructure quality, Western Balkans countries rank 98<sup>th</sup> out of 137, and the EU members among the 17+1 rank between 44<sup>th</sup> (Estonia) to 102<sup>nd</sup> (Romania), with an average rank of 66<sup>th</sup> place. (World Economic Forum, 2019) Over the past 20 years, more than 210 billion Euros was spent on transport infrastructure amongst the EU members of the 17+1 group. (PWC, 2017) As a result, it can be concluded that the countries of the region have been looking for additional sources of financial support, and China, due to its BRI program fits perfectly with the region's infrastructure needs.

The 17+1 platform represents a series of opportunities and challenges for both the participants and other regional actors as well. It must be mentioned, that before the establishment of the 17+1 platform, China only conducted strategic partnership with Hungary, Serbia and Poland (Ping & Zuokui, 2017). The same research shows that, the multilateral framework of the 17+1 platform, opened the path to bilateral relations between China and the Western Balkans (Montenegro, BIH, Serbia, Macedonia) and between China and Baltic states (Estonia, Latvia, Lithuania) (Cacrli, et al., 2019) (Dragan, 2015). However, other researchers and EU institution leaders criticize the Chinese engagement in Central and Eastern European countries due to the PRC's motivation to increase its regional influence. Furthermore, criticize other EU member states which started have closer ties with China. For instance, the Hungarian prime minister, Viktor Orban, has publicly mentioned the closer economic ties with Beijing as an alternative for the cooperation with the EU or other EU member states "Central Europe needs capital to build new roads and pipelines. If the EU is unable to provide enough capital, we will just collect it in China" (Orban, 2018). Yet another example characterized by experts is the "responsibility towards China as an investor". A few years ago, another opposing situation happened, when the EU showed its incapability to issue a common declaration to support the South China Sea Arbitral Tribunal Ruling. Croatia, Hungary and Greece opposed the common idea of the European Council, as Hungary has the Budapest-Belgrade Railway project underway, while Greece was negotiating the investment and acquisition of the Port of Piraeus (Cacrli, et al., 2019). However, other scholars believe that the 17+1 platform does not pose a threat to the existing multilateral cooperation in Europe, because the CEE is not economically dependent on China, and as long as the EU continues to offer attractive prospect to help countries to develop, China plays just a marginal role (Jakobowski & Kaczmmarski, 2017). Nevertheless, scholars believe that China takes the EU's concerns about its implication in the CEE countries seriously and responds with actions (Jakobowski, 2018). For instance, China modified its approach and consulted the European Commission and CEE about its proposals in advance of the summit in Bucharest, which also resulted in Bucharest guidelines that highlights that any China-CEE cooperation should be in accordance with the China-EU strategic partnership (Cacrli, et al., 2019).

#### 2.2 The Visegrád 4

The sub-region as a whole, stands for the 5<sup>th</sup> strongest economic power in Europe and the V4 members are considered the strongest economic powers among the newest EU member states (Simionescu, 2017). The developed economy is primarily due to the acquired FDI before 2008 (Nemcova, 2015). Furthermore, comes from the advantageous economic environment for investors and a willingness for transnational cooperation (Simionescu, et al., 2017). Based on the findings by Radu, economic development in the V4 region was highly influenced between 1990 and 2010 by formal institutions in relation to the collapse of communism. Formal institutions as in, political stability, and freedom (Radu, 2015). Even though V4 represent a strong economic unit in the CEE region, the higher objective would be achieving a steady economic growth and to step up a level to Western European standards (Stanzel, 2016) (Stanzel, et al., 2017). Researchers highlight the vital position of China in promoting economic development in the CEE region as well (Szunomar, 2014). V4 countries are keen to further engage in economic cooperation with China, however, statistics of recent years outline a serious trade deficit due to their capabilities (Fojtikova, 2017).

#### 2.3 Institutions and Economic Development

In order to be able to give an explanation on the role of institutions in economic development, the definition of institutions must be clarified; what institutions are, what they do, and how do they operate. Based on Keohane's theory, institutions are, "*persistent and connected sets of rules (formal and informal) that prescribe behavioral roles, constrain activity, and shape expectations*" (Keohane, 1984). Therefore, we can see from his idea, that institutions are a concept in which, rules about different decision-making processes are set; it includes formal

institutions such as trade agreements, and also informal, such as cultural heritage. According to North, institutions are manmade frameworks that supervise human interaction by providing norms, incentives and disincentives, to act in a certain way (Douglass C. North, 2003). So, it can be considered as, institutions provide a moral education function, which is imperative for well-functioning cooperation. Mearsheimer argued for an opposite idea on institutions in his book, the false promise of international institutions. He goes against the importance of institutions assigned by neoliberalists, and approaches from a nonrealistic way. He claimed, that institutions do not have significant influence in peace keeping, while he agreed on their role in economic cooperation (Mearsheimer, 1994-1995). Acemoglu and Robinson believes that institutions matter, and that it is imperative to understand how different institutions can be between across different nations. Institutions are influenced by several different aspects, such as monetary background, decision making process, and other cultural norms (Acemoglu, 2008). For instance, a good example could be North's take on explaining the adaption of the US constitution by Latin-American countries. After the cold war these countries attempted to apply the same constitution on their countries, however, regardless of the efficiency, and applicability the constitution brought to the states, in Latin America it failed.

Regardless of the agreement on the important role institutions play in economic development, researcher have different ideas on how exactly do they promote economic growth. Generally accepted fact, the correlation between the efficiency of institutions and various economic indicators but the why is different. Based on the findings by Acemoglu and Robinson, economic institutions are strongly linked with political leadership, and it is imperative to consider political forces when influencing institutional environment, as those political leadership has created them, operates them, and without their willingness the environment won't change (Acemoglu, 2008). Furthermore, they developed two sub categories for institutions, "extractive", and "inclusive". An extractive institution is governed by a small group of individuals trying to obtain as much influence as possible, while an inclusive institution contains a large number of individuals and drives towards a common goal. Economic development is considered as a result of how states approach these two different kinds of institutions (Acemoglu, 2012). Academics in the field of economics often argue, that institutions are created as a result of rational choice by individuals who are driven by selfish interests. The idea is of material gains through cooperation, while in reality leading to inequalities on a free market (Chang, 2007).

Nevertheless, along with other researchers, Chang claims that the free market is yet another institution governed by formal and informal limitations and policies, supervising activities of the participants (Chang, 2002). Furthermore, in their research from 2007, they divide the origin of institutions into two separate categories, claiming that institutions are either born on an *efficiency-driven* approach, or on an *"interest-driven"* approach. While the first category represents institutions that are created in accordance to a market failure and are aiming to promote economic development or common goal; the second category is for institutions that are driven to be esteemed by a private interest, based on an individual will instead of a general one (Chang, 2007). The most significant factor in promoting economic development by institution is to identify the possible threats for dominance and focus on general will and common goals.

Quality of institutions are considered as the most important factor by other researchers. According to Baliamoune-Lutz, the level of economic development depends on the decision, and quality of institutions (Mina Baliamoune-Lutz, 2006). A year later in a study, Baliamoune draw up the conclusion with Ndikumana, that, an unquestionable responsibility is assigned with institutions in improving the quality of trade liberalization, and trade openness. As the higher the quality of the institution is, a higher quality of trade control it will have. Or from another perspective, if trade openness is on a high level, the same high-level institutions will be launched. institutions play an important role in enhancing the effectiveness of trade liberalization because if trade openness reaches higher levels, better institutions appear to enhance the growth effects of openness (Baliamoune-Lutz, 2007).

Institutions have several impacts on economic growth, according to Lewer and Van Den Berg states that export capital goods, and import consumer goods develop slower than the ones exporting consumer goods. Therefore, institutions must guide the expansion, and liberalization of trade and help it develop in to economic growth (Lewer J. & Van den Berg, 2003). concluded that countries that import capital good and export consumer good grow faster than those that export capital goods (Lewer & Van den Berg, 2003). This idea suggests a key role of institutions in economic development. Other researcher debates about the short- and long-term efficiency of institutions. Based on the findings by Dollar and Kraay there is a mutual effect of trade combined with institutions on the long run but on the short trade has a larger impact. In their idea, institutions need time to evolve and make a significant impact in economic development, nevertheless, creating and sustaining high quality institutions are imperative in state operations to transmit trade relations into long term economic growth (Dollar, 2003). Furthermore, according to the previously mentioned duo of Ndikumana and Baliamoune-Lutz, a proper economic control combined with high-quality institutional environment, proper strategies regarding decision are created to further promote economic development. A quality institutional environment reduces economic instability when a market failure occurs. Moreover, they believe that regardless of the lack of short-term effects, on the long run economic growth can only be achieved by a certain institutional environment (Baliamoune-Lutz, 2007).

#### 2.4 Limitations

Several limitations can be found regarding the role of institutions in the economic cooperation between China and the V4 countries under the 17+1 platform. First of all, researchers in the field of IPE, IR, or even macroeconomics focus mostly on the asymmetric trade relation between the EU and China. Most Western scholars investigate dependency, and the dominant position of the PRC. A great proportion of the studies focuses on China and the EU in general, even if they narrow it down it is mostly Western Europe or 17+1 in general. There are just a few studies which are narrowing even the 17+1 one, let alone the V4. Only a small percentage of the sources available were investigating bilateral relations between the V4 countries individually. These are in their native language, Polish, Slovakian, Czech or Hungarian, from which, due to lack of knowledge, only the Hungarian was available.

However, there are some reports focusing on sub regional level of the EU, highlighting importance of the 17+1 platform in influencing EU-China relations but a sole focus on the V4 and China relation is not available. This master thesis tries to fill the gap on the subject, by introducing a wide-ranging analysis of the V4 – China economic cooperation under the 17+1 platform, especially in understanding the role of international, and national institutions.

# 3 Methodology

In order to be able to properly answer the problem question, this research has been conducted in a certain way. Therefore, in the upcoming paragraph, the chosen methods and the core methodology of the paper will be explained. First off, a chapter about the selection process of the theories, followed by the utilized data, after that by the methods of analysing, while a research design and a data limitations sub chapters come last.

## 3.1 Choice of Theory

In the theory section of the methodology, the selection process of the used theories will be discussed. This paper will rely on two closely tied theories, which are strongly linked with the understanding of the role of formal-, and informal institutions in the economic cooperation between China and the Visegrad 4 under the 17+1 platform. First, neoliberal institutionalism by Robert O. Keohane, while the second one is a theory by Douglass North, the role of institutions in economic development. Neoliberal institutionalism is a commonly used International Relations theory which describes the role of international institutions in promoting cooperation. While the second theory, introduced by North, is strictly connected with neoliberal institutionalism and takes the role of institutions to an analytical level to understand their responsibility in economic development. First of all, when the topic research begun it was imperative to understand that there are certain political and economic institutions which are shaping the environment of the cooperation of the 17+1 platform, therefore, the cooperation between China and the V4. Looking into the topic, it was unquestionable, to understand the economic cooperation the role of institutions must be understood. Neoliberal institutionalism suggests, that in an anarchic international environment, transnational institutions are responsible to coordinate cooperation and to promote efficiency (Keohane, 1984). Considering the role of political, and economic institutions created the impression of something missing in understanding economic cooperation. During this period of the research I came across with North's work, which divided institutions to category of formal, and informal providing a different perspective (the next chapters will further distinguish the above-mentioned terms) (Douglass C. North, 2003).

After studying his work, it was rather simple to understand the significance he places on individual actors in an institutional environment, and the role of their private "informal institutions". Decisions of individuals are undeniably creating uncertainty in any form of cooperation, social customs, cultural behavior, different preferences, and motivations mount up to a critical factor that can harm even a flawlessly organized institutional environment. Moreover, according to North, in order for institutions to be able to tackle the issue of the everchanging and evolving nature of problems, they must evolve accordingly. In such a constantly changing, and volatile environment like the economic cooperation between China and the V4, this adaptiveness of the institutions must be considered (Douglass C. North, 2003).

Therefore, in order to be able to present a comprehensive analysis to the research question, North's theory seemed like the last link to provide the finest theoretical framework.

## 3.2 Choice of Data

Sources chosen for this master thesis build up from both primary and secondary data. Primary sources can be considered as official statements such as reports from the EU, Visegrad 4, Central Eastern European institutions, Chinese white papers, bilateral agreements, and official state reports. Whereas, secondary sources are described as academic sources, for instance, scholars' researches and reports. Therefore, this thesis will rely on secondary sources as well, especially in the theory, and analysis section. For the theory sections, publications by Douglass North, Robert O. Keohane, and Stephan Nye will provide an empirical background. Furthermore, in order to achieve an extensive and detailed analyses, other secondary sources such as online articles, think-tank studies, reports by different organizations will guarantee additional data. The complexity of the role of institutions in the cooperation between China and the V4 countries requires the use of a massive variety of sources in order to be as objective as possible. Moreover, the more sources a research relies on, the boarder the perspective will be which also promotes objectivity, and credibility. Both primary and secondary sources offer a variety of qualitative and quantitative data as well. It is essential that a research examines quantitative data, as numbers always guarantee objectivity. Nevertheless, it is imperative to acknowledge the size of the problem area, therefore it is unmanageable to collect all data available due to time, and page limitations. Another useful way for data collection would have been to conduct an interview with leaders of transnational institutions, V4 or Chinese policy makers, unfortunately due to the lack of connections it was not an option.

## 3.3 Method

With the intention of understanding the role of institutions in the economic cooperation between China and the V4, a deductive approach have been used. A deductive approach means that based on available resources, the researcher makes assumption and draws the conclusion. This method suggests, that the individual assumptions of the researchers plays a key role. Therefore, it is significant to understand how a researcher structure their approach to understand a problem. Criticisms towards the use data is essential in order to stay as objective as possible. Throughout the research, qualitative and quantitative data have been combined to generate a broader perspective. In addition, a participant observation can be considered. As the researcher is originally from one of the V4 countries and have visited all of them as well as China, a level of understanding about the culture, policy-making process, political, social, and economic environment is available. It can be concluded that the observation of the researcher plays a key role in understanding the problem. According to different authors, a researcher can obtain different believes, perspectives, inspirations, and motivations on any given subject (Denzin & Lincoln, 2011) (Lorrie Blair, 2016). Using this method allows the research to be able to gather a massive amount of information on the role of institutions in the economic cooperation between China and the V4 countries.

#### 3.4 Research Design

The first half of this master thesis builds on a descriptive approach, which means that theoretical assumptions will be considered to understand the role of institutions; this is highly dependent on qualitative data. While the second part of the thesis will rely on an analytical research method, based on both qualitative and quantitative data. The quantitative data comes into relevance to express the assumptions of qualitative data and try to answer the problem formulation. Furthermore, regardless of the use of theories, hypothesis, and data from other researchers, the writer's personal contribution of ideas can be found throughout the paper. Essentially, when a theory or any data provided by researchers are used, first it has been analysed, then there is an analysis part, where it is decided if there is any correlation with the topic. It can be considered as a descriptive approach as well, combined with a normative perspective; as the writer tries to improve the theory and fit it perfectly to the analysis. Since there will be both quantitative and qualitative data used in the master thesis in order to have a comprehensive understanding of the topic, an additional normative approach can be considered. Nonetheless, quantitative data will just provide a source to economic cooperation and to provide a general view. The numbers will just show a way to understand the problem, there will not be any further analysis on the variables. Therefore, there were no statistical program used in the analysis.

In the analysis section, first there is a short introduction on the cooperation between China and the V4 countries in general. Secondly, each V4 country individually gets a case study where the 3 level of analysis proposed by North will be investigated, political, economic, and social environment is examined to highlight the presence and importance of institutions. In each case study, the cooperation will be analysed bilaterally as the V4 countries tend to cooperate with

China individually. After the case studies there will be a section of the analysis which showcases the findings on the role of institutions in the V4 in general, furthermore a paragraph describing transnational institutions which are influencing the V4 as a whole, such as EU regulations or 17+1 institutions. Throughout all the analysis the ideas of neoliberal institutionalism and Douglass North will be considered, in order to be able to answer the problem question, how do formal-, and informal institutions influence the economic cooperation between China and the V4 under the 17+1 platform.

### 3.5 Data Limitations

There are certain limitations to each research, this one is no exception of it. One significant difficulty is the lack of primary data, the absence of government statements. Both China and the V4 countries lack official statements on their cooperation under the 17+1 platform and on how the cooperation promote economic development. Furthermore, a great deal of the studies available, analyse both the V4, and the 17+1 platform under the framework of China-EU economic cooperation, so there weren't enough data which focuses on the chosen topic. Moreover, the language barrier comes into account as most of the statements by the V4 countries are written in their own language, and many of the Chinese sources are in Mandarin. Unfortunately, the original language sources could be analysed only in Hungarian, which made the Hungarian case study relatively longer.

One more significant limitation of the case studies is the government, and the policy maker statements, which must be examined critically. As there is no guarantee, that the outcome of an action will always be as the plan was about it. In other words, officials might not act accordingly to their promises. Though the frequency of official meetings between China and the V4 have rapidly increased ever since the launch of the 17+1 platform. It is still challenging to draw conclusion how the cooperation will evolve due to the lack of either bilateral or multilateral strategy between the sides. Therefore, it is hard to predict the volume of economic development.

# **4** Theoretical Content

In this section the chosen theoretical framework will be introduced, that will guide the analysis section in order to answer the problem question. Alongside the previously introduced concepts in the literature review, there will be a deeper focus on two chosen theories. First of all, to begin from the neoliberal institutionalism by Keohane in combination with a more

narrowed approach, a second theory, the theory of institutions and the impact of institutions on economic performance by Douglass Cecil North. Both theories follow neoliberalist ideas but this paper will also consider a neorealist approach on institutions by Mearsheimer. Keohane, is an active political science professor, working at prestigious institutions and he has been associated with neoliberal institutionalism ever since his book "After Hegemony" has been published in 1984. While, North was a researcher in economic history and for his theory about institutions and economic performance, in 1993, he received a Nobel Memorial Prize in Economics.

## 4.1 Neoliberal Institutionalism

Cooperation between states, and other actors on a transnational level can be identified as a core idea of neoliberal institutionalism. In his first book about the theory, in 1984, Keohane claimed that transnational cooperation happens *"when states 'adjust their behaviour to the actual or anticipated preferences of others' so that 'the policies actually followed by one government are regarded by its partners as facilitating realization of their own objectives"* (Keohane, 1984). His ideas were that engaging in international cooperation states regulate their own behaviour to match other states demands. In reality it looks more like when two different states' national interests meet, or there is at least correlation between them, international cooperation can be achieved. Furthermore, he believes, that one of the most significant difficulty of international cooperation is the nature of the global environment which is anarchic (Keohane, 1984). By an anarchic international environment, the author means the lack of world government to supervise transnational operations. However, the latest technological inventions, provided by rapid globalization, promote achievability of neoliberal institutionalist ideas.

Based on neoliberal institutionalism, states external involvement is always departed from a national interest, and actions taken by these states are based on a rational choice (Keohane, 1984). Cooperation can lead to advanced benefits in a global environment where actors are highly interdependent on one another's actions. According to Keohane, and other institutionalists, the anarchic system, the lack of control of transnational cooperation is the key issue. Therefore, international institutions can supervise, promote, and sustain efficient transnational operations. A mutual consultation, increased flow of information within the boundaries of an international institutions create opportunities for cooperation. Institutions are responsible to supervise, and limit the environment by regulations in order to keep dominance out. A global hegemon in international operations creates dependency, and dependency leads

to situations where the dominant side pursues purely its own interests, leading to a decreased benefit for the dependent state. Therefore, dominance must be limited by institutions to achieve common goals and promote general will (Robinson James, 2008). A good real-life example for neoliberal institutionalism and the promotion of global cooperation and peace is the foreign policy of the US after the second world war. Where the States aimed to eliminate conflict instead of engaging in them.

Regardless of the many-faced approach on institutions and international cooperation by scholars. Even the two most edged side, neoliberals, and neorealists agree on the significance of institutions from an economic perspective. Regardless of the disagreement Mearsheimer showed in his book, "False promise of international institutions", he agreed on the role of institutions in economic development (Mearsheimer, 1994-1995). Institutions promote cooperation about relative gains, and creates control over an anarchic system. By providing limitations, and information; participating states have a clear vision of possible gains and retaliation for breeching agreements. Furthermore, institutions provide a safe environment which coordinates interstate agreements for a mutual economic development. Therefore, over the next paragraphs a more economic development focus of institutions will be introduced by Douglass North.

#### 4.2 Douglass North's Institutions, Institutional Change, Economic Performance

North claims that, institutions are the guidelines of every interaction in a society, " more *formally, are the humanly devised constraints that shape human interaction. In consequence they structure incentives in human exchange, whether political, social, or economic. Institutional change shapes the way societies evolve through time"* (Douglass C. North, 1990). Essentially institutions can be understood as human concepts of regulating political, social, and economic interactions. The author divides institutions into two categories of formal and informal. Frameworks, rules, guidelines created by members of the society are formal institutions, whereas moral education, social norms, cultural heritage are informal institutions. Therefore, it can be understood, that institutions are either created, such as the European commission, or they can evolve to the environment over time, for instance, common law. Just like in the case of neoliberal institutionalism, North believes, that institutions provide regulations which determines the possible actions of participants, a common goal, and the volume of punishment for violating these restrictions (Douglass C. North, 1990). An easy to understand real life example of institutions is to compare it to basketball. The US created the

NBA, the National Basketball Association as an institute to regulate the county's professional basketball. A formal institution was born which decides about how the game is supposed to be played by written regulations and what are the punishments for breeching those limits. While the teams bring their informal institutions, team strategy, mentality, individual decision of players. Just like in other life situations, in basketball the rules set by a formal institution, in this case the NBA, can be violated in order to gain more benefits. For instance, the Detroit Pistons won several championships by an aggressive team strategy, aiming to injure other team's key players. They have violated rules but only in a matter that still brought more advantages than disadvantages. This decision to make is evaluated by a cost-benefit analysis, as the rules are clear for everyone, the question is, if it is worth it to violate them. When the punishment is less significant than the gains, the rules are often violated (Douglass C. North, 1990). Therefore, the Pistons as an organization of an institution, by analyzing the volume of punishment decided to follow down a different path which proved to be efficient for them.

North argues about the importance of separating institutions from organizations. "Like institutions, organizations provide a structure to human interaction. Indeed, when we examine the costs that arise as a consequence of the institutional framework we see they are a result not only of that framework, but also of the organizations that have developed in consequence of that framework" (Douglass C. North, 1990). To put it in a more understandable way, organizations can be separated from institutions, as organizations are members of a larger structure, the institutions. Organizations were created to be actors of a specific institution. According to North, the term organization involves players from a political, social, and economic level. Organizations on a political level are different political parties or local governments. While social organizations can be a school, church, or even a book club. Economic organizations contain companies or trade unions. When investigating the role of formal-, and informal institutions in the environment of economic performance, political or social change; it is imperative to analyze the collaboration between institutions and organizations. North claims to best understand institutions, actions of organization within a certain institutional environment must be investigated as well. Consequently, the analyses section with the case studies will emphasize this interconnectedness (Douglass C. North, 1990) (Wei Li, 2009). Understanding human behavior is essential to understand institutions based on North's assumptions. He claimed that, "Institutions are a creation of human beings. They evolve and are altered by human beings; hence our theory must begin with the individual. At the same time, the constraints that institutions impose on individual choices are pervasive"

(Douglass C. North, 1990). According to North, effectiveness of a certain institution or organization is highly determined by actors on an individual, micro level. Therefore, the significance of informal institutions of individual actors can be understood, as singular decisions come highly into account in shaping institutions. There is a massive interconnectedness to be spotted as institution shape human interactions, by providing an environment for development of the society and outline future possibilities (Douglass C. North, 1990). In order to emphasize the significance of informal institutions, North focuses on the nature of the world as a fundamental basis for his theory. North believes there is a massive volume of uncertainty involved from all aspects in our world, there are no general principles or basic structures; and he calls this environment a "Non-Ergodic world" (North, 1990). Furthermore, the author claims the starting point of life for each individual is from uncertainty, and the way we understand our surrounding depends on two vital factors. First, the personal experiences for each individual, and second, through cultural heritage, family norms, moral education build up our general perception of the world (Douglass C. North, 1990) (Wei Li, 2009) (Claude Ménard, 2011).

Our decision is highly dependent on informal institutions, cultural heritage, moral education, which roots back to several centuries. The second factor of North is fundamental to understand, as actions by actors of an institutions are limited to these informal aspects. Thus, a member of an institution is limited to a certain degree, to induce changes within the framework of a particular institution; the efficiency of these changes is dependent on their informal institutions. Therefore, human interactions have to be controlled and improved to sustain efficiency. However, these informal institutions are difficult to deal with, "superstition, religion, cultural heritages, regional norms are factors which", on the short run is unmanageable to modify or even influence, while on the long run it is exceptionally problematic to do so (Douglass C. North, 1990) (Claude Ménard, 2011). Even though institutions are regulated and controlled by formal rules, these are strongly linked with the informal aspects within their framework. "Informal institutions advance formal laws and rules to go beyond, and extend them to be able to solve real life problems and to be able to function on full efficiency" (Douglass C. North, 1990). Based on different economic theories, perfect information is available for markets, and for actors of these markets, plus everyone acts rationally, according to complete information. Nevertheless, North claims, that it is not the case, and both actors and markets have imperfect information, limited knowledge, acting rationally is not always the case, and also the feedback they receive on those actions is insufficient. Limited rationality, and information is a core of our Non-Ergodic world, no one has unlimited information in a world of uncertainty. For instance, in blackjack, it is uncontrollable to have information on the closed card of the dealer, as in case of an institution how the actions will manifest in real life is bounded to uncertainty. Furthermore, North believes, institution policies are improperly applied as a reason of informal institutions, thus, institutions are never perfect. To achieve a state where institutions would function perfectly, the costs to get there would surpass possible gains, thus, the whole payoff would lose its importance. One of the main roles of a formal institution is to decrease the level of uncertainty, and to deliver a framework for human interactions (Douglass C. North, 1990).

Regarding the efficiency of institutions, North believes, changes, time, and feedback are fundamental. In his book he highlighted two major factors which are strongly linked to the outcome of changes, "The resultant path of institutional change is shaped by (I) the lock-in that comes from the symbiotic relationship between institutions and the organizations that have evolved as a consequence of the incentive structure provided by those institutions and (2.) the feedback process by which human beings perceive and react to changes in the opportunity set." (Douglass C. North, 1990). Changes in an institutional environment are considered fundamental, as also the external world is changing continually. For instance, one day a market might be a competitive, free market, next day it is monopolized due to rapid technology changes. Times is essential, as what works today might not work tomorrow. Political, economic, and social changes have significant effects on the efficiency of an institution. Another relevant factor in relation to changes is the geographical availability. If an institution functions resourcefully in a region does not mean it will do so in other regions. In an example, when the Latin American countries adapted the US constitution, it did not have immediate results and needed modification. Therefore, organizing institutions according to regional economic and political structures is fundamental (Douglass C. North, 1990) (Claude Ménard, 2011).

#### 4.2.1 Assumptions and Analytical Framework of Douglass North

It is imperative to mention some fundamental assumptions, presented by North in his books, regarding institutions to better understand the role of formal-, and informal institutions in the China – V4 matter. The first statement highlighted by the author is that well-organized, resourceful institutions create costless transactions. In both an economic and political environment, transaction costs are considerable, and mandatory to deal with. On one hand, there are transaction costs which can be measured, for instance a currency conversation brings

transaction expenses, increasing transaction costs which can easily be measured. On the other hand, some transaction costs are more difficult or nearly impossible to measure, such as costs of gathering information or bribes taken during a transaction (Douglass C. North, 1990) (Wei Li, 2009).

As for the next assumption, North claims, that competent institutions create proper mental models. A mental model is basically a synonym for informal institutions, describing how human beings understand and analyze certain matters. North points out, that organizations which apply precise frameworks will eventually end up with effective decisions, that will lead to economic benefits. While organizations which are fostering a wrong concept, will have to face disadvantages. Furthermore, he argues that establishments using effective models must provide guidance for other organizations. Unfortunately, this does not always occur in real life situations, and regardless of feedbacks many members of institutions will continue to use the wrong model (Douglass C. North, 1990) (Douglass C. North, 2003) (Douglass C. North, 1992). Furthermore, the role of efficient information collection and redistribution of it, within an institutional environment is the next assumption considered by North. Due to the complexity of problems and complicated circumstances it usually carries a high price to gather information. Therefore, the flow of information between institutions are not always smooth (Douglass C. North, 1990) (Douglass C. North, 2003). While the last assumption claimed by North, is that the goal of each organization within an institutional environment is to maximize profit, and to function as efficient as possible according to the general will, realizing common goals. It should motivate the members of an organization to attempt to always be goal oriented. Other factors influencing this motivation of actors are ideology, values and social norms (Wei Li, 2009) (Douglass C. North, 2003).

To be able to apply his theory in practice, North established an analytical framework, which considers four significant ideas. First of all, "economic (and political) models are specific to particular constellations of institutional constraints that vary radically both through time and cross sectionally in different economies." (Douglass C. North, 1990). According to North, when analyzing the role of institution in transnational cooperation, the applicability of a certain economic or political structure must be considered, moreover, the validity in another region or a given time period. Just like the previously-mentioned constitution of the States, which functioned properly in the host country, yet, failed across Latin America. For instance, if China has an economic strategy by an institution within their cooperation with Western European

countries, the very same institutional environment might fail to deliver in the CEE region, due to significant differences in economic, political and social backgrounds. Therefore, the geographical and period limit, institutions function by, have to be analyzed since these factors do not only limit the institution itself but the organizations acting within the framework as well. Moreover, it is fundamental to understand that those limits set by government policies impact economic performance. In order to adapt to these factors, institutions must experience change over time. In order to successfully induce institutional change, there must be a flawless, continuous interaction between members of either an organization or an institution, on a political, social, and economic level. Thus, fostering the transformation process of an institution, which on the long run leads to economic developments (Douglass C. North, 1990) (Claude Ménard, 2011). In the upcoming case study, it is imperative to consider the applicability of institutions and how to transform them over time. In the China – V4 economic cooperation, the economic, political, and social environment can be considered as rather similar. Even though these countries all have similarities there are some individual qualities as well which might create a need for institutional transformation.

Uncertainty and the lack of rationality are the second aspect of North's analytical consideration. He claims, that "our preoccupation with rational choice and efficient market hypotheses has blinded us to the implications of incomplete information and the complexity of environments and subjective perceptions of the external world that individuals hold. There is nothing the matter with the rational actor paradigm that could not be cured by a healthy awareness of the complexity of human motivation and the problems that arise from information processing." (Douglass C. North, 1990). The author raises awareness about the overuse of the concept of perfect information and rationality by scholars, while in real life cases, the process is very different with bounded rationality and imperfect information. Furthermore, he believes that the action and behavior of individuals are essential in understanding the decision-making process within an institution with limited information. Consequently, behavior of actors within an institutional environment guides cooperation within boundaries, to reach a higher pay off (Claude Ménard, 2011) (Douglass C. North, 1992).

For the third level of his analysis North further emphasizes the importance of informal institutions such as ideology, or cultural heritage. He points out how significant role they play and institutions reveal their relevancy to a major degree. He claimed that *"ideas and ideologies* 

shape the subjective mental constructs that individuals use to interpret the world around them and make choices. Moreover, by structuring the interaction of human beings in certain ways, formal institutions affect the price we pay for our actions, and to the degree the formal institutions are deliberately or accidentally structured to lower the price of acting on one's ideas, they provide the freedom to individuals to incorporate their ideas and ideologies into the choices they make." (Douglass C. North, 1990) According to North, moral education, cultural heritage, social norms, and other informal institution will, to a major degree, determine actions of a member of either an organization or an institution. Decisions made by these actors are highly dependent on informal institutions which will limit efficiency of formal institutions. The way we tend to formulate and foster decisions is strongly linked with our ideology, and personal ideas. Thus, the third level of North's analytical framework further emphasizes these mental models (Douglass C. North, 1992) (Claude Ménard, 2011).

To round up his analysis, North turns back to the interconnectedness of institutions and their political, economic and social environment. "*The polity and the economy are inextricably interlinked in any understanding of the performance of an economy and therefore we must develop a true political economy discipline. A set of institutional constraints defines the exchange relationships between the two and therefore determines the way a political/economic system works.*" According to his analysis, political institutions regulate the market with different polities which can induce economic development if executed properly. As a real-life example, the regulations regarding property rights can be considered, where institutional policies limit competition, and control manufacturing on a given market. Therefore, North believes, that in any case of economic or political analyses, the institutional environment must be included to get a more precise picture (Douglass C. North, 1992) (Douglass C. North, 1990).

#### 4.3 Limitations and Applicability of the Theories

To be able to draw an objective, critical conclusion limitations of neoliberal institutionalism, and of North's theory must be investigated. As for Keohane's neoliberal institutionalism, the harshest critique came from Mearsheimer, in his book "The False Promise of International Institutions". Even though the author went entirely against Keohane's ideas, he supported the idea about the role of institutions from an economic perspective. Mearsheimer argued about the lack of role of institutions from a "peace-keeping" perspective (Mearsheimer, 1994-1995). Therefore, the role in economic cooperation is agreed on, even by two opposite sides.

When it comes to North's work, some scholars debate how he pays way too much attention on individuals throughout his analysis. Based on the assumptions by Heilbroner and Milberg, "the recognition of the inextricably social roots of all social behaviour leads to the view that macrofoundations must precede microbehaviour, not the other way around." (Heilbroner R. and W. Milberg, 1995). In other words, they claim that the social norms and other informal institutions are dependent on formal institutions. Furthermore, they believe that institutional frameworks are shaping and improving personal concepts instead of limiting them. Other scholars argue that North conceptualize informal institutions as an individual feature instead of a collective function. These researchers claim that informal institutions develop from a collective background. Thus, the lack of separation between collective and individual informal institutions by North is highly (Dimitris Milonakis Ben Fine, 2003). The last common critique is the lack of emphasize on power and conflict in North's work (Dimitris Milonakis Ben Fine, 2003). However, this aspect has no relevancy for the role of institutions in the economic cooperation between China and the V4. In order to be able to answer the question: "How do formal- and informal institutions influence the economic cooperation between the Visegrád 4 and China within the 17+1 platform?" the above-mentioned tool by North combined with general concepts of neoliberal institutionalism will be applied throughout the analysis section. As North's analytical framework presented, three key factors influence the efficiency of an institution, political-, economic-, and social factors. Therefore, in the upcoming analysis section these three levels will be investigated on four different case studies to properly understand the role of institutions in the current economic situation between the V4 and China. Furthermore, after the case study section a brief discussion on the relevancy of the basic assumptions of the theory by Keohane, and North will be combined with the findings of the case studies. As North says, efficient institutions create proper mental models, reduce transaction costs and promote economic development. In this situation, if China and the V4 countries are able to establish the necessary institutional environment, these institutions will support common goals, economic growth. By combining the qualitative data, and quantitative data, the empirical, academic data can be proved right or wrong by adding statistics to it. When the case studies consider a country the economic performance measures will show if an institution had an impact on the cooperation. For instance, when a country joined the 17+1 platform, and had immediate, or short-term impacts, the numbers will provide an insight to it. Furthermore, the ideas of Keohane and North as well suggests the aim for cooperation over individual operations. Therefore, the case studies will investigate if the sides are always aiming for this cooperation equilibrium and if the numbers prove them right.

## 5 Analysis

In this section, this master thesis will turn to an analysis of the role of institutions in the V4 – China economic cooperation. In order to achieve a comprehensive academic understanding of the topic the previously-mentioned theoretical considerations will be applied throughout the chapter. First of all, analysing foreign policy strategies of V4 countries towards China, and the other way around, will lead this paper towards its case studies.

#### 5.1 The V4 Countries' Foreign Policy Towards China

After conducting a research on the annual reports by Visegrad Group's Presidencies, it can be understood that the V4 countries as a unit lacks a multilateral foreign policy strategy towards China. Based on the presidency reports by each state of the V4, multilateral foreign policy towards China is not present, moreover, the bilateral strategies are also less significant. In these reports the PRC drew just a little attention. For instance, from the report of the Slovak Presidency the only approach highlighted on China was a platform for exchanging information and experience of other V4 states in tourism. (Slovak Presidency, 2015). The Czech government takes it to a higher level, as according to the report a "destination branding" conference was held in 2016, in order to promote imports from China by introducing different concepts of destination branding (Czech Presidency, 2016). Poland works on a multilateral tourism level, as they promoted travel opportunities between the V4 countries and China (Polish Presidency, 2017). While in Hungary, recent years did not produce any multilateral V4 framework towards China and by the recent report of the Hungarian Presidency, China did not get any attention (Hungarian Presidency, 2019). It can be seen that a proper political institutional environment is very much in need on a multilateral level. Developing a multilateral foreign policy strategy would induce institutional environment which would foster the economic cooperation.

# 5.2 China's Foreign Policy Towards the V4 Group

According Chinese primary sources, the PRC also lacks a multilateral foreign policy strategy towards the V4 as a unit (The State Council, 2019). However, Chinese leaders acknowledge the significance, and possibilities of the V4 region, and multilaterally cooperates with them under the 17+1 platform. China considers the 17+1 platform as a bridge towards Europe which

improves cooperation. Wang Yi claimed, that the PRC was always engaged in cooperation with the CEE region, even before the launch of the 17+1 platform, obeying with EU legislations (Wang, 2018). In 2018, a very first high-level official meeting was held between the PRC and the V4, where Wang encouraged a further engagement from the V4 states in promoting Chinese integration in Europe, in order to further develop transnational operations (Wang, 2018). Furthermore, the unquestionable significance of the V4 countries in the CEE region was acknowledged by the state councillor and foreign minister Wang Yi, and he emphasized the major role the V4 state can play in promoting cooperation. While welcoming the V4 state's encouragement and contribution to the BRI, believing in an opportunity to realize a mutual development and win-win cooperation with the PRC (Wang, 2018). Since China introduced the 17+1 platform, the establishment of an institutional environment can be noticed in the cooperation between the Asian giant and the V4. Nevertheless, by providing institutions for the transnational cooperation, China aims to promote a multilateral economic development.

#### 5.3 China's institutional consideration for the 17+1 platform

To understand China's policy towards the V4 countries, the PRC's approach on the 17+1 initiative must be considered. Under the platform, cooperation between Beijing and the members of the 17+1 are rather individual, each state makes their decisions and agreements bilaterally. However, in order to develop and foster a proper institutional environment, China has launched a "Twelve Measures" framework to promote cooperation with Central Eastern Europe. The agenda begins with setting up a secretariat, which will be responsible for cooperation and communication between the two sides. The secretariat will be based in the PRC's Ministry of Foreign Affairs and all the members of the 17+1 will set up an equivalent agency in their country (Ministry of Foreign Affairs, 2012).

Second point of the agenda was establishing a credit line with the volume of 10 billion USD, in form of mostly concessional loans. The obtainability of these loans is provided by the mayor banks of China, "National Development Bank of China, Export and Import Bank of China, Industrial and Commercial Bank of China, Construction Bank of China, Bank of China or China Citic Bank." Each member can file a project application for loans as long as the project is related to infrastructure development, new technologies or green development (Ministry of Foreign Affairs, 2012). While the third part of the agenda was to set up a fund for investment cooperation with a starting goal of raising 500 million USD (Ministry of Foreign Affairs, 2012).

Fourth measurement was about promoting bilateral economic cooperation and trade. The concept was, that China will "send trade and investment promotion missions" with an aim to promote the earlier mentioned cooperation; and set up a goal to achieve a total volume of 100 billion USD in the two-way trade within the 17+1 by 2015 (Ministry of Foreign Affairs, 2012). As for the fifth point, the government of China assured to encourage Chinese firms to cooperate with countries in the CEE region, furthermore, to establish an economic and technology zone in each country. Thus, promoting appropriate relations between Chinese enterprises and the CEE countries (Ministry of Foreign Affairs, 2012). Boosting efficiency of the cooperation in a financial matter was the sixth measurement. Setting up bank branches in each other's countries, currency swap, and local currency settlement in order to enhance financially cross border operations (Ministry of Foreign Affairs, 2012). Infrastructure guidelines came seventh on the agenda. China engaged in establishing an advisory committee, to counsel on the "construction of transportation network" between the countries. The execution of these projects would be coordinated by the Ministry of Commerce of China, and by each CEE countries separately. Railway networks. local highways created jointly through cooperation and collaboration(Ministry of Foreign Affairs, 2012). The next point was about cultural exchanges, China offered to hold a forum in 2013 about cultural cooperation between the Asian giant and the CEE countries, and to annually have a similar high-level forum, where culture is the first priority (Ministry of Foreign Affairs, 2012). Considering the future was also part of the agenda, in the ninth point China guaranteed to provide 5000 scholarships for students of the 17+1 countries until 2017. Upholding local Confucius institute, promoting Chinese language studies, university exchange programs, were all part of the agenda in order to emphasize the importance of education (Ministry of Foreign Affairs, 2012). As part of cultural exchanges, China Tourism Administration established an alliance to encourage travel between China and the CEE countries. The initiative allows individual airline companies, and travel agencies from both sides to jointly promote tourism, and cultural exchange. Furthermore, setting up charter flights will not only promote tourism but also encourages cross border business operations. (Ministry of Foreign Affairs, 2012) The last two points of the agenda include a fund for research institutes, to support academic exchanges on the cooperation between the two; and a forum to provide a platform for young political leaders to better understand cultural differences (Ministry of Foreign Affairs, 2012).

It can be understood that China has a significant interest toward the CEE region. In addition to the twelve-point measurement, a supplementary nine pillars were introduced to sum up the

framework of collaboration. The nine pillars are made of on a concept of economic cooperation, cooperation of industry and manufacturing, cooperation in science, technology, research, innovation, environmental protection, cultural exchange, education, youth support, tourism, healthcare, and agriculture. Therefore, the complexity of a significant cooperation is unquestionable, on numerous levels China and the CEE countries are ready to engage with one another. (Ministry of Foreign Affairs, 2015) Therefore, it can be concluded how China aims to develop, and sustain a proper institutional environment for the cooperation with the CEE countries, which provides guidelines for the cooperation with the V4. By creating, and promoting these formal institutions, information gathering will be easier, and proper mental models will be available to positively influence informal institutions. Furthermore, these institutional frameworks, create a free flow of information, which is essential according to North.

## 5.4 China and the Visegrad Group economic cooperation

Economic cooperation between the V4 states and China traces back to as early as 1991. Nevertheless, as it was presented earlier, over the last decade the volume of economic cooperation has significantly decreased in relation to China's increased interest in the Western Balkan region. In order to further comprehend how the cooperation slowed down, in the next paragraphs the economic exchanges between China and the V4 countries will be analysed.

According to appendix 1, there is a massive trade balance between the V4 states and China, just like between the EU as a whole and China. Moreover, it can be concluded that in comparison with the EU as a whole, trade between China and the V4 unit is less significant. The volume of exports to China from the V4 states has been steady, on the very same level since 2010, while the import has shown a vast increase over the years. According to some scholars the PRC has shifted its focus from the V4 countries towards Western Balkan regions regardless of options by the 17+1 platform (Lagazzi, 2018). A possible key aspect for this shift in attention is regarding EU institutions. Researchers argue that avoiding EU legislation bodies, policies, taxes is a significant reason in Beijing's advanced engagement in the Western Balkan. Nevertheless, according to Lagazzi, China is targeting EU regulated sectors within the 17+1 platform and the author believes that the V4 countries represent a possibility to access other European markets for China (Lagazzi, 2018). After conducting a research, it can be considered, that the PRC aims to avoid increasing diplomatic tension within the 17+1 platform. One fact which supports this statement is, that China excluded all countries which are too politically or

economically instable or just simply too closely tied with Russia to join the 17+1 platform, such as Belarus, Republic of Moldova or Ukraine. Regarding the Visegrad Group, recent events indicate a massive political opposition between the V4 and the EU, which attracted criticisms, and which might also drag China into these diplomatic debates. One of the most relevant examples is their policies towards migration as the V4 stood strong as a unit against the EU's migration quota, by completely refusing that. However, for China the V4 countries represent a major political power in the CEE region, and a powerful ally in dealing with EU. For instance, in the Council of EU, individual member states have the ability to influence the final decision when the Council votes on different matters. The Visegrad group represents 58 votes from the total of 352 votes in this structure (Poland 27, Czech Republic 12, Hungary 12 and the Slovak Republic 7) (Council of EU, 2018).

Over the next paragraphs, four case studies will be presented. Each case study will investigate the role of institutions on a bilateral level between China and each V4 country separately. To understand the role of institutions, the case studies will follow key assumption by Keohane, and an analytical framework by North. By using North's analytical tool, each case study will have three different levels of analysis; political, economic and social.

#### 5.5 Czech Republic

### 5.5.1 Political Level

To follow an alphabetical order, the Czech Republic comes as the first case study country of the V4. Transnational relations between the Czech Republic and China traces back as early as 1919, when the former Czechoslovakia recognized the PRC, and 11 years later, in 1930 launched diplomatic relations (Embassy of the Czech Republic, 2015). Though, from the exsoviet block the Czechs were amongst the first countries to recognize "One China policy", political conflicts arose when the Czech started to crinite Chinese human rights and Tibet-Taiwan policies in 1995. However, the new administrative office in 2004 has shifted the country's approach on China and turned their attention towards economic possibilities (Embassy of Czech Republic in Beijing, 2018).

Nevertheless, in 2007 the Czech Republic was led by a green party coalition which begun to harshly criticize Chinese policies in Tibet, increasing political tension once more. The Milos Zeman democratic administration launched in 2010, cooperation between China and the Czech Republic rapidly improved. The Czech's government follows an official foreign policy strategy
towards China, and tries to strengthen cooperation with the PRC in sectors such as healthcare, economy, research and development, cultural exchanges, human rights, and environmental protection (Ministry of Foreign Affairs, 2015). According to the report by the Czech Ministry of Foreign Affairs, the country is ready to cooperate with China on a multilateral level under the 17+1 platform, and the EU – China strategic partnership (Ministry of Foreign Affairs, 2015). Recent years show a development in terms of multilateral and bilateral cooperation between China and the Czech Republic, even though, the country represented one of the most critical sides in the EU towards China in 2010 (Embassy of the Czech Republic, 2015). However, after the inauguration of Milos Zeman prime minister, the foreign policy strategy changed, and the Sino-Czech relationship started to improve (Cacrli, et al., 2019).

The cooperation has escalated to such a level, that in 2014, the Czech Republic held the "2<sup>nd</sup> China – CEE Local Leaders' Meeting" in Czech capital. The sides signed a "Memorandum of Understanding on Promotion of the Establishment Association of Governors of Provinces of China"; and a document about nuclear energy cooperation (Cacrli, et al., 2019). The improved relationship led to the 1st "China - CEE Health Ministers' Forum", where the parties signed a cooperation document on health issues, furthermore, signed the "Memorandum of Understanding on Jointly Building the BRI" (Fojtikova, 2017) (Cacrli, et al., 2019). While in 2016, the Czech Republic signed a Memorandum on digital connectivity under the Digital Silk Road cooperation. All these agreements, documents, and memorandum, furthermore, the regular high-level official meetings suggest the aim to provide an institutional framework for cooperation from both sides. These documents function as a formal institution, setting down boundaries, and regulations to promote economic development and efficient cooperation. Regardless of the promotion of an efficient bilateral relationship, earlier this year, March 2020, Czech Prime minister Andrej Babis said that the Chinese ambassador in Prague must be replaced. The tension started to grow as the ambassador sent a letter to the Babis administration, that China would retaliate against Skoda and other major Czech companies operating in China, if a certain Czech high level official (Jaroslav Kubera) would visit Taiwan as part of a conference. Yet the political relationship is relatively decent, the Czechs support China's foreign policy towards Taiwan and the whole situation was not more than an ambassador overstepping its own responsibilities (Reuters, 2020). These political institutions serve as a tool for cooperation, in form of an accelerated information exchange which leads to reduced transaction costs. Furthermore, by creating proper mental models about the cooperation, thus reducing weak informal institutions. When an actor of an institutional environment realizes how

others approach work, how they consider cooperation, the individual ideas, norms and cultural heritage might stay in the background, leading to more efficient decisions. Moreover, as North says there's a massive uncertainty in our word but these political institutions reduce the level of uncertainty further providing space for economic development.

### 5.5.2 Economic Level

In order to understand economic institution within the China - Czech Republic framework, the key factors of economic cooperation must be analysed. According to North the institutional environment on an economic level highly influences economic development by providing a framework for efficient cooperation. The PRC ranks as the 2nd most significant import- and the 18th most important export partner for the Czech Republic. Researchers claim that over the last couple of years, the bilateral economic cooperation between the sides has been developed significantly due to the mutual agreements and developed institutional framework (Li J, 2017) (Cacrli, et al., 2019). To promote the development of their institutional framework, and to further improve trade relations, in 2014, Prague was home for the China Investment Forum, and by promoting bilateral ties the PRC attended the Czech's International Engineering Fair in Brno. In 2016, regardless of usual mutual agreements, the Czech Ministry of Interior criticized Huawei, and based on reports by the Office for Foreign Relations and Information claimed that Huawei proposes a great threat in the technology sector with a high risk of industrial espionage; and all the cooperation must be suspended indefinitely (Daily, 2016). However, the economic cooperation between the sides is still relevant. One of the main actors from the PRC in the Czech Republic is the China Energy Company Limited (CEFC); the corporation focusses on the energy sector and monetary solutions. According to financial reports, the CEFC has invested around 5 million euros in the Czech market and own a minor (10%) part of a Prague-based financial group called J&T Finance Group (Debiec, 2018). In 2016, the CEFC further engaged in the Czech market by acquiring 49% of shares of "Empresa Media". Moreover, the CEFC also prioritize the airline sector and made a major investment in the Czech Airlines, acquiring almost 79% of shares (Cacrli, et al., 2019).

According to data by the Observatory of Economic Complexity, China ranks as the second biggest source of import for the Czech Republic (Observatory of Economic Complexity, 2020). As it is shown in Appendix 2, both imports from China and exports to China have been significantly growing since joining the EU in 2004. Furthermore, after 2010 when the Zeman administration was established, the economic cooperation has shifted to an even higher volume

in a relation to the new era's foreign policy. As it was mentioned earlier the rate of import is considerably larger than exports in all V4 countries, the same goes for the Czech Republic; as in 2017 they recorded a 17.22 billion USD trade deficit in 2017. Criticisms arrived in 2017 about the massive trade deficit when the Babis administration took over control with ANO. In relation to the negative trade balance the Czech prime minister, Babis, claimed "we buy [in China] ten times more than we sell, despite so many ministers having travelled there – so I do not know what for" (Ladislav Zemánek, 2020). Therefore, a monetarily created tension can be identified between the sides, and the Czechs are aiming to balance the trade with the PRC in order to achieve higher gains. According to both North and Keohnae, the political leadership must support the institutional environment, however, if there's tension or disagreement, they might not pay the necessary amount of attention.

Regarding exports, based on OEC data from appendix 3, the Czech Republic's main exports to the PRC are vehicle parts (9.3%); liquid pumps (5.8%); low-voltage protection equipment (4.6%); electrical lighting and signalling equipment (3.1%); non-optical microscopes (2.8%); chemicals (3.8%) and other minor sectors. It is easily concluded from the numbers that Skoda with Czech roots dominates the exports. While in terms of imports, according to appendix 4, most of the Czech imports from China concentrates around broadcasting equipment (19%); office machine parts (13%); computers (16%); vehicle parts (1.1%); integrated circuits (1.8%); and other consumer goods. In both export and import there is a trace of raw materials, finished products, both consumer and capital goods as well. Even though, the balance is in an uneven state, creating a massive trade deficit for the Czech Republic, researchers argue that a significant portion of these imported goods from China are later exported from the Czech Republic to other countries (Cacrli, et al., 2019) (Observatory of Economic Complexity, 2020).

When it comes to Chinese FDI for the Czech Republic, the very first agreements date back to 2005, a year later after the Czech became part of the EU. A 14 points agreement was signed by Chinese and Czech prime ministers in order to promote mutual cooperation in economics, politics, and cultural exchanges. Researchers believed, that the sides had dedicated themselves towards cooperation and this agreement will make a steady monetary inflow of Chinese capital in to the Czech Republic, by promoting and protecting investment (Deloitte, 2019). As North claimed, by setting up economic institutions, the sides can make cooperation more efficient, by defining guidelines. These institutional attempts will result in maximizing goals, reducing transaction costs and by modifying them over time the efficiency of the cooperation will significantly increase. As a result of the newly set institutional environment, the CEFC launched

its very first headquarters in Prague, at the same time as Ye Jianming became advisor to President Zeman in 2015. The immediate impact of the institution is present, and it is supported by different organizations. According to an article from the South China Morning Post, the PRC shows a great interest for cooperation with the Czech Republic in sectors such as car manufacturing, industrial sector, science-technology, healthcare, and civil aviation (Lau, 2020). The major organizations in the institutional environment of monetary investment are: Shanghai Maling, Changhong, Shanxi Yuncheng and YAPP Automotive Parts (Deloitte, 2019). Based on a review on Chinese investment in the Czech Republic by a European Think Tank network, Beijing acquired organizations and shares in soccer teams, breweries, financial groups, hospitality services in Prague, and airline firms (John Seaman, 2017).

However, regardless of the dedication the sides showed, economic cooperation remains way below the expected numbers. Earlier in 2020, President Zeman showed his concerns about China, and claimed that in terms of investment Beijing is underachieving its own promises (Lau, 2020). This claim is closely related to inefficient institutions. The formal economic institution has been set up, with great promises, however informal institutions, individual decisions from one side overrule the efficiency of the formal institution.

When President Xi Jinping visited Prague, the Chinese leader guaranteed a massive investment project of 10 billion euros. Yet, FDI from the PRC accounted for less than 1% of the total FDI arriving to the Czech by the end of 2017; even other Asian countries have invested more, Japan or South Korea (Kafkadesk, 2019). However, the institutional environment is not completely failing to deliver as China has increased their attention towards the Czech energy sector over the last couple of years. Regardless of the interest from China, some Czech officials argued to leave energy sector investment for NATO countries to avoid breech of security. Even with the increased attention, the Czech Republic acquired the least of Chinese monetary investment in energy sectors throughout Europe, in relations to security concerns (Richard Q. Turcsanyi, 2016) As both Keohane and North suggests, efficient institutions on an economic level will generate, on the long-term, economic development. In the case of the Czech – Chinese bilateral relationship, the sign of institutions, and some monetary results of them can most certainly be identified. However, further development of the institutional environment is required to maximize efficiency of the economic cooperation.

#### 5.5.3 Social level

According to North, informal institutions have the most impact on economic development, and these social factors influence the efficiency of formal institutions. However, formal institutions can also serve a great purpose on a social level. Looking at the bilateral cooperation between China and the Czech Republic several institutions and organizations have been set up on a social level. In 2007 a Chinese cultural centre was established in Prague to promote the diverse culture of the PRC (Jakobowski & Kaczmmarski, 2017). In hopes of resourceful cooperation cultural ties have further been engaged as in 2012, the Czech – Chinese Friendship Association was launched, followed by, in 2014, a Czech – Chinese Cultural and Art Exchange Association in Prague. Furthermore, a Confucius Institute at the prestigious Palacky University (Fojtikova, 2017).

In order to emphasize the significance of informal institutions in economic development, the next paragraph will provide an insight into institutional corruption. North believes, that these individual decisions, and the source of diverse moral education can fundamentally worsen the efficiency of an institutional environment. According to GAN Integrity's corruption report, the numbers shown a steady increase over the last couple of years. Based on their reports, the Czech Republic experiences a high risk of corruption in both public procurement, and administration sector as well, yet the majority of citizens do not encounter corruption activates on a daily bases (GAN, 2017). According to researchers, the lack of effective implementation of anti-corruption framework by the government induces these events. In other words, it can be considered as an ineffective use of an institutional environment, where unwanted informal institutions dominate the agenda. Moreover, studies highlight the regular corruption in the justice department, as bribes and irregular benefits are a common factor (World Economic Forum, 2017). Therefore, it can be seen how massive roles informal institutions play in economic development, since as long as the individual goal is more attractive for citizens then common goals, the pace of economic development will be a lot slower. This case entirely aligns with assumptions of North about the significant influence informal institutions have in a society.

### 5.6 Hungary

### 5.6.1 Political Level

When it comes to the bilateral relationship between China and Hungary, the two sides traces cooperation back for thousands of years, in a form of an endless relationship. As a reason of this special connection, in October of 1949, Hungary was amongst the very first countries in the world to recognize the People's Republic of China. In 2004, after Hungary's entry to the European Union, the country's strategic importance grew for China, and the bilateral association of the two has further strengthened. Major events proved the legitimacy of the special relationship, as a "Friendly Partnership Cooperation" statement was signed by the two sides to further engage in cooperation to induce mutual benefits. This can be considered as a start of a new era in terms of economic development. Yet another imperative breakthrough occured in the bilateral relationship, when prime minister Viktor Orban, launched a new foreign policy strategy for Hungary, called the "Opening to the East". As part of this initiative the Hungarian prime minister sought to reduce the Hungarian economy's level of dependency on other EU member state and the European Union, and projected an alternative to tighten economic cooperation with states from the East. Orban claimed, that an "eastern wind is blowing in world economy" and Hungary must adapt to it to induce economic development (Agnes Szunomar, 2017). Moreover, the prime minister added, that besides other Eastern countries, the PRC might be an alternative to initiate progressive influences on economic growth in the country. A year after his speech, in 2011, Orban visited China to promote bilateral cooperation, and as a result, Chinese premier Wen Jiabao, visited Hungary on his short tour in Europe. On this tour the Chinese premier visited only two other countries (England, Germany) which emphasizes the strategic position of Hungary for the PRC (Hungarian Embassy in Beijing, 2019) (Agnes Szunomar, 2017) (Sabina Carli Faris Kocan Nina Pejic, 2019).

It can be concluded, that the Hungarian government, the most significant political institution in the country, is aiming towards strengthening the bilateral relationship, and to maximize its efficiency. Regardless to a lack of official foreign policy strategy from Hungary to China, the political relation is characterized by regular high-level meetings. Following the Orban, and Jiabao visit, on the first official meeting of "Heads of Government of China and Central and Eastern European Countries" in Warsaw, Orban had a bilateral meeting with president Xi Jinping. While in 2013, the second official 17+1 meeting took place in Bucharest, where further talks between Orban, and Chinese premier Li Kequiang took place. A year after Orban visited China where he met several leaders of the PRC, president Xi Jinping, Li Kequiang, and also the Chairman of the Standing Committee of the National People's Congress, Zhang Deijang. Not only Orban is active in promoting the bilateral political relationship but also Peter Szijjarto, Hungarian Minister of Foreign Affairs and Trade met Wang Yi his Chinese counterpart in 2014. Later that year, Orban yet again met Li Kequiang on the third official CEE metting in Belgrade. In 2015, Wang Yi visited Hungary, where he met with Szijjarto, Orban and also Janos Ader, the president of the republic. (Hungarian Embassy in Beijing, 2019) According to Keohane and North, political institutions provide such a framework, where organizations and economic-, and social institutions can fully fill their potential. In case of the bilateral relationship between China and Hungary, the dedication to improve these institutions can be identified from both sides.

The Hungarian minister of foreign affairs, in 2015, visited the capital of the PRC, on the occasion of the 70<sup>th</sup> anniversary of the Anti-Japanese War, and this visit meant a meeting for the second time in the same year between Hungarian and Chinese high-level officials. Furthermore, Szijjarto attended one more meeting with Vice-President Li Yuchano on his tour to Beijing, to foster mutual interests (Embassy of the People's Republic of China, 2019). As part of the 4<sup>th</sup> official 17+1 conference, a meeting between Chinese, Hungarian, and Serbian high-level officials took place, where they signed transnational cooperation agreements regarding the renovation and expansion of the Budapest – Belgrade railway system, which is considered as a major strategic factor for the Belt and Road (Agnes Szunomar, 2017). On the occasion of the China – CEE Political Parties Dialogue in 2016, Orban attended a meeting with a member of the Political Committee of the Communist Part of China, Liu Yunshan. As part of this meeting, Orban promoted the idea to further commit to the multilateral relationship within the 17+1 platform, to an advanced strategic partnership with higher commitment. By mutual agreements on a bilateral level, Hungary and China launched a "China – Hungary Belt and Road Working Group" institution, to further promote political, economic, and social connectedness (Agnes Szunomar, 2017). Another meeting took place between Chinese and Hungarian representatives in 2019, where the sides discussed the importance of promoting tight political connectedness, the fundamental significance of the expansion of the Budapest -Belgrade railway line, mutual goals in agricultural cooperation, and the possibilities of the BRI projects. Moreover, they emphasized the implication, development, and sustainability of institutions which can encourage bilateral monetary investment, trade, and economic development. The major institutions included the "China-CEEC Ministerial Meeting on Promoting Trade and Economic Cooperation, the China-Hungary Economic Joint Committee

and its Working Group for Unimpeded Trade, and trade and investment promotion platforms such as the China International Import Expo and the China-CEEC Expo" and they all received close attention, in relation to their ability to form an institutional environment around the cooperation, where the economy can develop (Sabina Carli Faris Kocan Nina Pejic, 2019) (Hungarian Embassy in Beijing, 2019) (Embassy of the People's Republic of China, 2019).

According to North, political institutions provide a structure for economic development. In the China – Hungary relations, several institutions can be identified, which are aiming to strengthen the bilateral ties from both sides. These institutions are set by political forces yet they sometimes act on an economic level. By the establishment of numerous institutions in the bilateral cooperation, the theory of North proves its significance. The two sides aim to reduce uncertainty, improve the flow of information, reduce transaction costs, and to provide proper mental models.

#### 5.6.2 Economic level

When it comes to an economic level of the China – Hungary bilateral relationship, the Hungarian economy is concentrated around the European Union, just like any other V4 state. Regardless of this similarity, in Hungary the Chinese monetary cooperation began to show its strategic importance over the last decade as the PRC became the largest trading partner for Hungary outside the EU (Eszter Lukács – Katalin Völgyi, 2018). Regarding the capacity of import, the volume has experienced a steady increase during the period between 2000 and 2017, as numbers show, the import from the PRC grew from an annual 0.9 billion USD in 2000 to 5.78 billion USD in 2017. While the annual volume of imports was around 5 billion USD in 2016, this number grew by almost an annual billion USD by the end of 2017 (Observatory of Economic Complexity, 2020). When it comes to the volume of exports, numbers show that Hungary exported to China an annual 3.14 billion USD worth of goods in 2017, highlighting a massive growth compared to an annual 0.04 billion USD in 2000. When we look at the last two years (which are available by OEC) a yearly 1 billion USD growth can be visualized by the statistics. This massive growth can be understood as the impacts of the strengthening bilateral relationship between China and Hungary, and the impacts of the efficient institutional environment. Moreover, capacity of trade is one of the largest in the V4 region, which shows the strategic importance of Hungary, making the country a fundamental actor for the 17+1 platform (Agnes Szunomar, 2017) (Observatory of Economic Complexity, 2020).

Ever since the beginning of the new millennium, the improved economic relationship between China and Hungary created observable financial results. When it comes to imports, China is a key partner for Hungary, and the PRC always ranked in a high position since 2005 with a massive volume of exports to Hungary. This massive volume means, that Chinese trade has increased by 250% of imports in Hungary between 2003 and 2012 (Observatory of Economic Complexity, 2020).

As Appendix 5 shows, the exports from Hungary to China is on a considerably lower level when compared to imports. China ranks as the 11th amongst all the export partners of Hungary in 2017, representing only 2.9% of annual imports. Even though the numbers are seem to be relatively low, it has shown a steady increase since 2000, making the PRC the second largest export partner for Hungary after the US. However, the massive imbalance between imports and exports generates a considerable trade deficit for Hungary (Tamas Matura, 2017) (Observatory of Economic Complexity, 2020). Furthermore, appendix 5 visualizes the data from the OEC, showing the previously-mentioned negative trade balance between China and Hungary. While the red line reveals the level of import from China to Hungary, the blue line indicates exports. In direct proportion with the increase of both exports and imports, the trade deficit from the bilateral economic cooperation. Even though the volume of trade imbalance seems massive, the monetary cooperation between the two sides account for a nearly 3 billion USD decrease in trade deficit over the last 10 years, from an annual 5.56 billion USD in 2008 (Observatory of Economic Complexity, 2020).

In Appendix 6, the exports divided between products shows which goods add most to the negative trade balance between China and Hungary. Based on OEC data, cars stand for 30% of all exports from Hungary to the PRC with a total value of an annual 0.9 billion USD. While, spark ignition takes up 7.5% of exports and totaled at 0.23 billion USD, followed by vehicle parts with 5.2% and an amount of 0.16 billion USD in 2017. Therefore, it is essential to understand how the car industry divides most of the share of all the exports. Other consumer and capital goods, such as electronical devices, medicines, processed food, etc.; amount to only a minor share of total exports (Observatory of Ecnomic Complexity, 2020).

The next appendix, appendix 7, shows what goods Hungary imports from China. Electronic devices lead the imports with telephones 11%, office machines 9.2%, broadcasting Accessories 8.5%, LCDs 8.3%. The capacity of electronic devices adds up to an approximate 70% of total

imports. These products cover the most significant part of imports, which lead to the negative trade balance. However, according to researchers, a large portion of imports coming from China will be reexported from Hungary, producing additional income for the country (Agnes Szunomar, 2017) (Observatory of Economic Complexity, 2020). As it was presented earlier, several institutions have been set up to control economic cooperation. This idea is parallel with North's take on institution to promote growth.

Regardless of a slight decline in Chinese FDI over the last couple of years, Hungary still, by far, dominates the V4 countries and the CEE region as well. Similarly, to other V4 countries and 17+1 members, Chinese FDI started to show a considerable growth after 2004, when the country joined the EU. According to Chinese reports, the PRC's commitment for larger investment realized a massive growth from 5.43 million USD in 2003 to over a hundred times more, 571.11 million USD in 2017. Based on reports by scholars, single handedly Hungary received 89% of the whole Chinese investment in all the CEE region (Chen Xin, 2012). As the other 17+1 members started to intensify their commitment towards China this portion of FDI started to decrease in Hungary but still remains the most attractive in the region for Chinese investment. However, regardless of the escalating Chinese investments, based on data by the Hungarian Central Bank, 62% of all investment to Hungary are coming from other EU states, and China only adds up to a 2.3% of shares in total. (Agnes Szunomar, 2017) Following the empirical considerations of North, Hungary established such an institutional environment where the bilateral economic cooperation might fulfill its potential.

Further investigating the role of institutions in the China – Hungary context, "Eastern opening policy" had significant impacts. Though, the Orban government has claimed that it would like to preserve Hungary's durable and vital economic relations with its European associates, the main goal of the EOP was to decrease Hungary's economic dependence in trade with other European countries, by refining economic relations with China. As a reason of the popularity of Hungary to Chinese investors, the first office of the China Investment Promotion Agency set up its first oversea office in Budapest. This office and the considerable size of Chinese citizens living in Budapest, guarantees information and security for Chinese investors who lack Hungarian market information. Which stands parallel with Keohane, and North's take on the role of institutions in reducing uncertainty. Multinational enterprises and state-owned enterprises have also shown activity on the Hungarian market, in industries like real estate, logistics, banking, telecommunication, electronics and motor-vehicle (Eszter Lukács – Katalin

Völgyi, 2018). Already in 1998, Changsu Standard Part Factory acquired a Hungarian screw factory and started operating in the country. Bank of China opened its first subsidiary in Budapest, 2003, as a first body in the CEE region. 2012, brought a second branch for the organization, while in 2014, Bank of China has set up a headquarter in Budapest which provides financial support for Chinese companies to conduct business in Hungary, and the CEE region (Eszter Lukács – Katalin Völgyi, 2018) (Agnes Szunomar, 2017).

After joining the EU in 2004, Hisense, a manufacturing company established a joint venture with a Hungarian partner, Flextronics. As the commitment to market growth, in 2006, Hisense set up its own manufacturing hub in the country. Lenovo also arrived with the EU accession, and acquired an old IBM factory in Hungary. Ever since the commitment grew, and by cooperating with local manufacturers, Lenovo has reached to a level where they provide products to all over Europe, Africa and the Middle East. Huawei also identified potential in the country. An office in 2005, while in 2009 the company decided to relocate their European supply center to Hungary, from where they distribute products to Europe, Russia, North Africa and the Middle East. Due to good results, in 2013 Huawei opened a new logistic center, and in 2014 an innovation center. ZTE arrived in 2005 with a representative office and a subsidiary in 2010, and ever since continues to operate on a high-level in Hungary. Even though BYD electronics arrived in 2008, until 2017 they were rather inactive. However, in 2017 they established their first European electronic bus factory, which has received a 25 million USD credit line from the Development Bank of China to further expand activates. Member of the over productive Chinese solar industry, Beijing Sevenstar Group also identified opportunities on the Hungarian market. With the help of Bank of China, Wanhua acquired a Hungarian company BorsodChem in 2011, and as a result they became the world's third largest isocyanate producers. They set up a trade cooperation within Hungary with a capital of 230 million USD to lure further Chinese biotech and medical companies. Furthermore, as part of the BRI one of the largest scale project is the Budapest – Belgrade railway line which will be the biggest investment in the country (Eszter Lukács – Katalin Völgyi, 2018). Not only the big players but also small and medium sized enterprises got attention in the bilateral economic relations. In order to encourage SMEs to enter each other's market, Chinese state-owned trading houses were established to guarantee a platform for SMEs to trade their goods overseas. This trading houses provide a role of a middle man to connect smaller entities with a massive foreign market. In 2013, the government of Hungary initiated a "state-owned National Trading House" and

created 30 offices abroad in countries like China, Saudi Arabia, and Russia (Agnes Szunomar, 2017) (Eszter Lukács – Katalin Völgyi, 2018).

Following the previously introduced assumption of Keohane, and North, but even Mearsheimer claims that institution play a massive role in economic development and market expansions. In relations to the significance of institutions, The Hungarian Ministry of National Economy, alongside the Trade and Investment Agency targets to foster such an economic institutional environment where the economic cooperation can further develop. By encouraging collaboration between export financing state banks, and by providing higher responsibility for economic diplomats abroad, who would serve as a significant representative of different institutions (Agnes Szunomar, 2017). Several other committees, business forums, and trading chambers enjoy higher attention besides the previously listed institution in a cross-national take on providing a functioning institutional environment for development. It can be understood that ideas of North and Keohane about cooperation has its significance in real life issues. To further show its significance another example, when the Hungarian Chamber of Commerce and Industry established numerous new departments in order to further improve economic cooperation. To emphasize the commitment level of Hungary to the countries' Eastern opening policy which serves as a functioning institutional environment for transnational cooperation, several examples can be highlighted. The huge attention on transnational organizations, the new business forums, all the high-level meetings are evidence on institutionalization. Furthermore, the Eastern Opening Policy was not the first take from Hungary in encouraging cooperation with China. As in 2004, the country launched its consulate in Shanghai, while a new consulate was introduced in Chongqing in 2010. In relation to connecting with China, newly established organizations were introduced by mutual engagement, such as the Hungarian-Chinese Economic Chamber and the Chinese-Hungarian Business Committee. Moreover, Hungary introduced a new regulation for investors outside the EU, who can apply for resident permit in the country when their investment reaches a certain level. This take is unique in all of Central Eastern Europe, and Hungary tries to provide a guarantee for investors to be able to easily monitor their business operation (Agnes Szunomar, 2017) (Eszter Lukács – Katalin Völgyi, 2018) (Hungarian Embassy in Beijing, 2019).

Several other institutions have been introduced within the 17+1 platform which further acknowledges North and Keohane's idea. Moreover, to further prove the relevance of the theory of institutions by North.

In 2015, a memorandum by Hungary was signed, the "Memorandum of Understanding" between the Government of Hungary and he Government of the People's Republic of China on Jointly Building the Silk Road Economic Belt and the 21st Century Maritime Silk Road" (Hungarian Embassy in Beijing, 2019) (Douglass C. North, 1990). Reducing uncertainty, providing a structure for the unlimited flow of information, are all responsibilities of institutions, which serve as a fundamental goal in establishing them. Therefore, EXIMBANK and China EXIM introduced a credit line agreement, to induce economic development between China and Hungary. In 2013, a "Bilateral Swap line Agreement between Central Bank of Hungary and People's Bank of China". Even before the launch of the 17+1 initiative, several economic institutions were already functioning ("Investment Guarantee and Double Taxation Agreement (1991)Treaty on Mutual Civilian and Commercial Legal Aid (1995) Agreement on the Approved Destination Status of Hungary (2003) Economic Cooperation Agreement (2004)") (Hungarian Embassy in Beijing, 2019) (Douglass C. North, 1990). According to scholars the strategic relationship between China and Hungary has not yet developed to its full potential, and the future holds great expectations (Tamas Matura, 2017). Furthermore, as North suggests, organizations add the extra value for institutions. In this case study, several economic organizations have been identified which improves the institutional content.

### 5.6.3 Social Level

From a social perspective, Hungary is an outstanding partner of China, and no other members of the V4, or even in Europe has the same relationship. Even during the ancient SilkRoad times, the two sides showed economic cooperation, and at the time Hungary was one of the most significant trading partners of China. 1000 of years of cooperation and achieving mutual benefits creates a unique perception of China in Hungary, as most Hungarians consider China as an ancient ally of the (Gergely Salát, 2009). On a social level, institutions are established to promote educational, and cultural exchanges, in which the two sides are highly engaged. There are a high number of Hungarian students who are studying in China, and Chinese students in Hungary, a Confucius Institute in Budapest, and bilingual primary-, and high schools in the Hungarian capital are all results of social exchanges. Not only Hungary but the PRC promotes social institutions as well, Beijing showed commitment in form of a bilingual education center, a language and music center. According to North, these formal institutions

serve as a moral educational tool to improve informal institutions (Embassy of the People's Republic of China, 2019) (Douglass C. North, 2003).

Besides the previously listed, the two sides engaged themselves to further encourage cultural exchange, and new platforms were introduced. Exhibitions, film festival, concerts, summer camps and different cultural forums. More over Hungary is not just the home of the largest Chinese community in the region, but also tourism is on a high level between the countries (Embassy of the People's Republic of China, 2019).

All the established social institution would suggest a developed informal institutional environment in the bilateral relationship. However, according to North, individual decisions, and social norms are the most significant informal institutions which must be analyzed. Regardless of moral education, Hungary experiences a high level of corruption which questions the legitimacy of social norms in the country. Furthermore, North claims that regulations are breeched when actors hope higher benefits with less penalty. Based on reports by GAN Transparency, Hungary ranks at a rather terrible position, 116<sup>th</sup> most corrupted country in the world. Based on their method, the country is considered as most corrupt among all V4 states. Individual rewards, and profits enjoy a high priority for a vast number of citizens in the country. Violations often occur, as the personal gains are usually exceeding the volume of punishments. Based on a report by GAN anticorruption agency: "corruption in Hungary represents significant risk to business, particularly in the tax administration, and public recruitment sectors..." (GAN, 2017). Dedication towards collective, common goals is absent for a major percentage of Hungarian citizens, therefore their informal institutions often damage cooperation (Transparency International, 2019) (Douglass C. North, 1990) (HVG, 2018).

#### 5.7 Poland

#### 5.7.1 Political Level

Just like the case for Hungary, Poland has a long history with China, which traces back as early as 1245, when Poland was dealing with China along the ancient SilkRoad. As a result of good relations Poland was the second country in the world to establish diplomatic relationship, and first country to sign a strategic cooperation agreement with the PRC in 1951 (Gadzinowski, 2016). Among other V4 states, Poland represents a country with a clear foreign policy towards

the PRC. Based on their foreign policy strategy, Polish Foreign Policy Strategy 2017 – 2021, the country aims to improve cooperation possibilities with China under the BRI, and 17+1 platform. As part of their strategy, a "Go China" initiative has been launched, which carries a goal to establish improved cooperation with non-European countries, especially China (Ministry of Foreign Affairs Republic of Poland, 2017). The last decade shows an improved relation between China and Poland both on bilateral and multilateral level as well. In 2011, Bronislaw Komorowski, president of Poland, visited Beijing and has signed an agreement about a strategic "Polish - Chinese partnership" under the "Go China" framework to promote bilateral ties(Bonikowska & Ostrowska, 2017). On a multilateral level, the very first 17+1 platform took place in Warsaw, which also emphasizes good relations between the sides. Furthermore, the government of the two sides have signed a memorandum of agreement about supporting projects of the BRI. A formal political institution has been launched in 2015, as a form of an intergovernmental committee. As part of his visit to Poland, Xi Jinping signed a strategic partnership program with the Polish administration in 2016, in order to emphasize the significance of mutual cooperation. According to researchers, the Polish leadership is pursuing the most complex and developed institutional environment on a bilateral level with China, in order to gain competitive advantage in the region (Justyna Szczudlik, 2016). Furthermore, several transnational forums take place to promote this goal. Based on official data Poland is aiming to fully apply North's idea to pursue common goals with a developed institutional environment, which will lead to significant growth in their economy, and decrease dependency of the country on other EU member states. However, one of the most significant accomplishments which explains how political institution promote economic cooperation, is the 2013 strategic partnership between China and Poland. In the same year, there have been more than 25 high level official diplomatic meetings between Poland and China(Ministry of Foreign Affairs of the PRC, 2013).

#### 5.7.2 Economic Level

When it comes to economic relationship between China and Poland, it is imperative to mention that the Polish government was cofounder of the Asian Infrastructure Bank (AIIB). Such an investment shows the relevance of a highly developed transnational cooperation, even though Poland boosted the launch of AIIB by accruing less than 1% of the shares with 831 million USD. Yet, Poland is the only state in the CEE region who was part of the initiative, and their investment guarantees a 1% worth of vote in the decision-making process (Justyna

Szczudlik, 2016). Regardless of the signs of early cooperation with AIIB, Chinese FDI arriving to Poland is considered insignificant, and Poland ranks as only the 8<sup>th</sup> country regarding volume of Chinese FDI in the region (National Bank of Poland, 2018). Nevertheless, the lack of significant investments might change, according to researchers, as the fund of EU structural development fund will stop in later parts of 2020, which would mean that the Polish government must seek for other alternative, and China can become a top strategic partner regarding investments (Mercy A. Kuo, 2017). In this scenario, we can identify Keohane, and North's emphasizes on the importance of an institutional environment. With the EU institution tool functions, the Polish can achieve economic development, and are not in desperate need for another partner for investment. However, when the EU institution tool stops, the country must seek after new investors immediately within a new institutional environment. The EU would still provide aid for development, but the institutional function terminates, in this case it equals the need of seeking new alternatives.

Regarding trade relations, for the PRC, Poland is the largest trading partner within the 17+1 platform, while for Poland, China is the largest trading partner in Asia. Based on data from appendix 8, Poland imported goods from China in an annual volume of 25.9 billion USD. It is by far the largest amongst the V4 countries. Ever since 2004, after joining the EU, this volume of exports has been on the rise, from a 2.3 billion USD annual in 2003. However, when it comes to export, the appendix shows how the export did not go directly proportional with the imports, leaving a huge trade deficit behind. Based on data provided by OEC, in 2017, Poland exported an annual 2.59 billion USD worth of goods to China in 2017. According to these numbers the trade balance accounts for an annual minus 23.31 billion USD for Poland. Just like the other V4 countries show, trading with China ends in a trade deficit, but when one considers the market size and capabilities of the PRC, it is not a surprise that countries 30-40 times smaller, end their trade year in a deficit between exports and imports. Furthermore, just like for Hungary, a significant portion of the imported goods from China will then be further distributed, thus generating extra revenue.

Appendix 9 shows the division of good that make up the Polish import from China, computers (4.9%); broadcasting accessories (7%); broadcasting equipment (6.6%); office machine parts (5.8%); video and card games (3%); light fixtures (1.8%) and vehicle parts (1.5%). While appendix 19 highlights the division of goods regarding export to China, metals (25% refined copper); vehicles parts (6.5%); electronic equipment (electrical transformers 2%; electric filament 1.3% and so on); synthetic rubber (2.6%); seats (2.6%) and other furniture

(3.7%). Most of the companies exporting to China from Poland are operatin in the metal industry, one major exporter is a state-owned enterprise KGHM Polska Miedz; while the export is supported by some major players of the private sector, such as Rafako, Fakro, or Bioton (Jusstyna Szczudlik, 2017). When analysing the previously presented appendixes, it can be identified how Poland is most exporting raw materials to China, and import finished products. It means, that the export goods are relatively cheaper, as the price of finished products includes an added value which also takes the trade deficit higher (Jusstyna Szczudlik, 2017).

Looking at the Chinese FDI in Poland, according to a report by Szczudlik, Poland received a year volume of 507.11 million euros as investment in 2016 (Jusstyna Szczudlik, 2017). The division of projects for investment include finance, telecommunication, manufacturing, and infrastructure projects. Regarding finance sector China has elevated its strategic goal, and as of 2016 four branches of Chinese owned banks are providing services in Warsaw (Justyna Szczudlik, 2016). Not only the monetary sector but the energy sector of Poland also enjoys a high attention from Chinese investors. A Hungarian researcher working for the China - CEE institute made a study about Chinese engagement in European energy sectors. Based on his findings, availability, affordability, and efficiency are the three-fundamental element for Chinese investors. He claims that the energy sector of Poland enjoys high priority as the country is stable on all three elements (Richard Q. Turcsanyi, 2016). These Chinese investments included focus on acquiring and establishment of coal powered plans, supporting infrastructure, and renewable energy production. Following the ideas of North, a theory about the Polish energy sector can be concluded. If the Polish government follows the assumptions about factors of Chinese interest in the energy sector, and they established an institutional environment that support those factors to attract FDI. Moreover, regarding investments, the China - CEE Investment Cooperation Fund launched monetary operations in the wind energy sector of Poland, and managed to acquire 16% of share from the company Polish Energy Partners (Reuters, 2014). China identifies the strategic possibilities that Poland has, and is ready to fully engage in the country's power plant construction, by establishing a generator in the Polish city Jaworzno, and a new power plant in (Forbes, 2017). While some scholars argue that the energy sector carries high sensitivity for governments, based on Turcsanyi's report, Poland has a positive perception of Chinese engagement in their energy sector(Richard Q. Turcsanyi, 2016). Two factors are highlighted about the positive perception of China, first, the Polish government aims to reduce its energy dependency on Russia and Germany; and second, Poland's strategic goal is to develop coal reserves in which China is a key partner. (Richard Q. Turcsanyi, 2016)

However, minor conflicts appeared between the PRC, and Poland; when Polish authorities arrested a worker of Huawei worker on industrial espionage charges. The case has not yet been concluded but it can be seen how informal institutions influence organizations within an institutional environment. (The Guardian, 2019).

### 5.7.3 Social Level

According to North social level of institutions is the most crucial, in achieving a functioning institutional environment which promotes economic development. Each country's informal institution is highly dependent on individual and their decisions. Unfortunately, there's always a certain amount of irrational choice, or choices which are promoting personal gains over common goals. Data from the Anti-Corruption agency shows, the level of corruption has been increasing over the period of 2015 - 2018, but have been steadily standing ever since.

Based on reports by the GAN Business Anti-Corruption Portal, the situation in Poland is similar to Hungary, and for operating businesses corruption represents a major risk. According to reports, high level officials overuse their power to achieve individual gains, which has a significant impact on the free market and different business sectors (GAN, 2018). According to North, individuals will aim for personal gains, when in an institutional environment the benefits are higher than the punishment for breeching regulations. In Poland's Criminal Code, money laundering, different kinds of bribes, and extortion are all included, however, based on the report of the country by GAN, the polish judicial system does not follow effectively the procedure to punish offenders (GAN, 2018). Which means, that the assumption of North is relevant in this case, and the corruption will not be demolished as long as there is a higher pay off for breeching regulations than the volume of punishment. The presence of corruption, and widespread of bribes can be experienced throughout the society, as the European Commission reports, that 25% of Polish citizens think overuse of political power, everyday bribary, and breech of regulations at the judicial system is widely spread in the country (European Commission, 2014). For instance, to show an example how complicated the situation is in the Polish judicial system, the polish parliament passed a set of bills about the structure of the Supreme court. Based on their attempts, the ruling party would always have the authority to appoint and dismiss officials as they please in the framework of the Supreme Court, and National Council (The Guardian, 2017). After mass protests the bill did not get passed. Based on the earlier presented assumptions of Acemoglu and Robinson, or North, it is impossible to understand economic or social institutions without understanding the political institution that created and sustain them (Acemoglu & Robinson, 2008). Therefore, in this case study it was shown how the polish government is aiming to provide an efficient institutional environment to promote Chinese economic cooperation. The government did not only improve regulations regarding Chinese FDI but also increased its engagement in diplomatic bilateral talks to further improve the relations. As for the informal institutions, it was clearly shown how big of a problem corruption represents in the country. Considering the theoretical assumptions of North, these informal institutions will always damage the functioning of formal institutions as long as personal gains are preferred over common goals.

#### 5.8 Slovakia

#### 5.8.1 Political Level

As part of Czechoslovakia, the country has recognized the newly formed PRC on the 4<sup>th</sup> of October 1949 and set up diplomatic relations. After the parts separated in 1993, Beijing immediately recognized the newly formed states and established bilateral relations with each. 10 years after, in 2003, the Slovakian president visited China where the two sides ended up further strengthening their bilateral cooperation under a strategic agreement (Sabina Carli Faris Kocan Nina Pejic, 2019) (Kristína Kironská and Richard Q. Turcsányi, 2017). Slovakia was an active participant of the 17+1 framework in its early stage, between 2012 and 2014, several delegations were attending summits and the country proposed possible project ideas to China; however, none of them has actually happened. To further improve their position, Slovakia was amongst the first countries to sign a memorandum with China under the BRI, however, the country's involvement was on a rather low level. Regardless of the memorandum, Slovakian PM Robert Fico was amongst the few who missed out on the 17+1 summit in 2016. One year later, for the BRI summit in Beijing, Slovakia did not send any high-level representatives either (Cacrli, et al., 2019). Therefore, it can be concluded, that considering other V4 countries Slovakia showed the least interest towards China. However later on in 2017, the Slovakian government introduced a foreign policy plan: "Strategy of Development Economic Relations with China for 2017-2020". Nonetheless the efforts, Slovakia is only a host for one political institution of the 17+1 platform, the "Secretariat for technology transfer in Bratislava." (Sabina Carli Faris Kocan Nina Pejic, 2019) (Šimalčík, 2018). The lack of institutions due to imperfect political structure can be identified, which slows down economic performance in the bilateral relationship. Nevertheless, Slovakia is amongst the few countries in the V4, who has an exact foreign policy strategy towards China, trade and investment is stagnating on a low level (Šimalčík, 2018) (North, 1990).

Eventually, the Slovakian political administration identified the problem of lack of institution and missing diplomatic cooperation. The Slovakian Ministry of Foreign Affairs aims to establish not only bilateral, high level government member meetings between China and Slovakia; but also, on a multilateral level to further improve platforms such as the 17+1 cooperation or through the V4-China cooperation. (Šimalčík, 2018)

### 5.8.2 Economic Level

As a result of a fragile bilateral political relation, the China – Slovakia economic cooperation is also underachieving, and is considered to be the lowest amongst the V4 countries. Based on appendix 11, in terms of both export and investment the country is not currently meeting the expectations. As for imports, Slovakia is not far behind other V4 countries, for instance, Hungary, as in 2017 the total import from China amounted at 5.69 billion USD. Considering the timeframe between 2014-2017, the total import has been decreasing by around 0.2 billion USD a year. However, considering the last 15 years the imports show a significant growth from only 0.7 billion USD in 2004 to a peak in 2014 of 6.17 billion USD. Therefore, it can be understood that joining the EU in 2004 has induced a growth in imports (Kristína Kironská and Richard Q. Turcsányi, 2017) (Observatory of Economic Complexity, 2020). Regarding export, the amount of Slovakian export to China totaled at 1.84 billion USD in 2017, lowest in the V4 region with a volume of 1.6% of all exports. According to researchers, Slovakia has a more intense trade relationship in terms of export and investment with other Asian countries, such as, Japan, South Korea, or Vietnam; even though, 85.2% of all Slovakian export goes to other EU countries. Compared to 2012 the volume of export dropped back by 50% creating a massive imbalance in trade for the country (Šimalčík, 2018) (Observatory of Economic Complexity, 2020). In appendix 12, the imported goods are divided into categories. In 2017, broadcasting equipment and accessories topped the chart with 15% each, which provides assets to the tele communication and radio industry. The above-mentioned two, takes up a large share of around 1.7 billion USD of all imports. The distribution of focus between other goods are relatively widely spread but it can be concluded that electric devices dominate the imports, with other finished products and raw materials. China is considered a major import partner for Slovakia as 8% of all imports are from the PRC, only Germany and Czech Republic are ahead (Kristína Kironská and Richard Q. Turcsányi, 2017) (Observatory of Economic Complexity, 2020).

As for appendix 13, the exported goods from Slovakia to China are visualized. The chart is highly conquered by the car industry. Cars with 64%, followed by vehicle parts at 6.5% were

the most exported products in 2017, which means that the car industry takes up a staggering 70.5% of all exports. If we consider other goods such as engine parts with 2.8%, that also belongs to the same industry, a total of around 1.4 billion USD out of 1.84 billion USD comes from similar sources. Unlike for imports, China only ranks as number 14<sup>th</sup> of all destinations for Slovakian export. The difference between imports and export is enormous creating a serious asymmetric trade balance for the country (Observatory of Economic Complexity, 2020) (Šimalčík, 2018).

Moreover, in appendix 11, the previously-mentioned trade balance between China and Slovakia, between the period of 2003 and 2017. It is clearly shown in the appendix that ever since joining the EU in 2004, the trade has started to increase. However, as the imports grew the export did not grow exponentially, therefore a massive trade imbalance is created. In the year 2017, Slovakia accounted a 3,85 billion USD trade deficit. Furthermore, it can be visualized, that the peak gap was in 2014 with a volume of 3,95 billion USD, which has been present ever since, and even though the import decreased, the export decreased accordingly (Observatory of Economic Complexity, 2020). According to researchers of the CEE institute, when it comes to foreign investment from China Slovakia is way behind the V4, and the whole CEE region as a whole. Over the period of 2010-2016 the total of Chinese investment in the country valued at approximately 55 million USD, which is rather insignificant. Regardless of the foreign policy strategy towards China, or the memorandum agreement signed in 2015, Slovakia fell short in terms of luring in Chinese investment. "In the past, several large investments by Chinese companies in Slovakia were proposed, but none succeeded" (Sabina Carli Faris Kocan Nina Pejic, 2019) For instance, the case with the acquisition of a US owned steel factory in the country by the Chinese HeSteel Group didn't actually follow through (Sabina Carli Faris Kocan Nina Pejic, 2019) (Kristína Kironská and Richard Q. Turcsányi, 2017). In comparison to other analyzed countries, Slovakia lacks the proper economic institution structure which could promote economic development.

### 5.8.3 Social Level

Regarding cultural cooperation, two Confucius institute has been set up by Slovakia. One of them at the Slovak University of Technology in 2007, and another one at Comenius University in Bratislava in 2015. Furthermore, an association has been set up to promote cultural exchanges, the "China – Slovakia Economic & Cultural Exchange Promotion Association".

The organization is responsible in supporting bilateral educational, research and development exchanges (China – Slovakia Economic & Cultural Exchange Promotion Association, 2019). In comparison to other V4 countries, the cultural exchange is also on a lower level. However, the volume of corruption in the country is the lowest amongst the V4 countries. According to data from Transparency International the country ranks as 36<sup>th</sup> least corrupted country in the world, just a step, in front of Poland. Nevertheless, the presence of corruption has still influenced several different areas. GAN business anti-corruption claims that judicial system in Slovakia. Businesses report unfair treatment when dealing with the court and high presence of bribes in return for favorable decisions, even though the cases are rather significant and a huge capital is involved.: "Verdicts often lack predictability and are often not properly justified, leading businesses to prefer arbitration to the Slovak court system even in cases involving multi-million-dollar losses." The other sector significantly hurt by corruption is public procurement. When corruption comes to public contracts it can block competition which is essential for developing an effective political structure. GAN claims that, "companies indicate that bribes and irregular payments are very common in the process of awarding public contracts"..."Two out of every five businesses believe that corruption has prevented them from winning a public tender" In case of a possible Chinese investment, there is a threat of negative affect of individual decisions, informal institutions (GAN Business Anti-Corruption Portal, 2018) (Transparency International, 2019). As it can be understood there are serious issues regarding informal institutions in the country which damages economic cooperation on a transnational level.

### 5.9 Similarities and Differences of the the V4 Countries

After analyzing all the 4 countries of the Visegrad group, several institutions have been identified which are either promoting or decreasing the quality of cooperation with China. In most cases, the political institutions have been identified which are aiming to boost economic relations with the help of economic institutions on a bilateral level. However, each country showed a low level of informal institutions, with high corruption rates. According to North these informal institutions are essential to reach a level of efficient cooperation. The informal institutions must develop, and follow the idea of democratic solidarity. Democratic solidarity can be understood as a general idea of being able to forge an agreement or goal with others, which is the basic principle of institutionalism (Hauke Brunkhorst, 2007). The whole idea, the basic principles of democratic solidarity, come from 18<sup>th</sup> century French philosopher Roseau.

Key element of his ideas were about freedom, independence, in a cooperative society. Common goals must be supported by all actors of the society to reach mutual gains. The idea of informal institutions is strictly connected to this concept. Furthermore, in the V4 – China context, there are multilateral institutions which are regulating the cooperation. EU, and world institutions combined with Chinese institutions are all influencing the multilateral level. European Parliament, European Commission, European Council, Court of Justice of the European Union, are the major institutions from a European perspective. Which are all regulating boundaries for the cooperation between China, and the V4 countries. Moreover, The United Nations, IMF, WTO, and other international institutions come also into play, alongside Chinese based institutions in the framework of China – V4 (Šimalčík, 2018). The major differences between the countries were found regarding the foreign policy strategy towards China.

### 6 Conclusion

This master thesis formulates with a plan to investigate the role of formal-, and informal institutions in the economic cooperation between China and the Visegrad 4 countries under the 17+1 platform. The goal was to be able to develop a comprehensive answer for the question by combining two International Relation theories, the Neoliberal Institutionalism by Robert Keohane, and the Impact of Institutions on Economic Performance by Douglass North. In order to be able to formulate a deep analysis, the four members of the Visegrad group have been analysed separately in a case study on a bilateral level. Furthermore, multilateral aspects of the cooperation have been included as well by describing approach from the sides on the 17+1 platform. By combining qualitative-, and quantitative data throughout the analysis, the empirical considerations have been supported by bilateral statistics about economic cooperation. All data have been viewed through the two IR theories to have a critical, analytical approach. On the basis of the presented case studies, and considered theories, this research now turns to answer the problem question: *"How do formal- and informal institutions influence the economic cooperation between the Visegrád 4 and China under the 17+1 platform?"* 

The answer for this question is as complicated as the nature of institutions. Regarding formal institutions, this research found several examples. When it comes to China, it was presented how the PRC created a multilateral institutional framework around the 17+1 platform. Within this formal institutional environment, they assigned high importance for supervision, credit line agreements, investment fund, trade promotion campaigns, infrastructure development, high-

level official meetings, and to promote Chinese organizations in engaging with CEE countries. Furthermore, the case studies, based on the analytical assumptions of North, showed that political-, economic-, and social institutions are operating on a bilateral level as well. In case of the Czech Republic, an official foreign policy strategy about cooperation with China has been established as a major political institution, furthermore several agreements and three memorandums have been signed to further develop an institutional framework. Hungary was the only country which lacks an official foreign policy strategy directly towards the PRC but China is a significant part of their Eastern Opening Policy. Furthermore, the country has signed a memorandum on cooperation, and friendly partnership agreements, supported by regular visits between high level Hungarian and Chinese officials. All these political institutions were set to regulate the bilateral cooperation and increase efficiency. On an economic level Hungary and China have established a deep institutional environment. A bilateral swap line agreement between major monetary institutions guarantees that Bank of China and the Asian Infrastructure Bank provides credit line agreements in the country from established branches. Moreover, other economic institutions include the "China-CEEC Ministerial Meeting on Promoting Trade and Economic Cooperation, the China-Hungary Economic Joint Committee and its Working Group for Unimpeded Trade, and trade and investment promotion platforms such as the China International Import Expo and the China-CEEC Expo" In case of Poland a direct Chinese foreign policy strategy "Go China" have been identified amongst, partnership agreements, memorandums, and the share of establishment of the Asian Infrastructure Bank. Slovakia showed to be the less institutionally developed amongst the V4, which also manifests in their lack of trade efficiency, however, an official foreign policy strategy: Strategy of Development of Economic Relations with China 2017-2020 is supported by agreements and memorandums. On a social level similar institution have been spotted in all four cases, in forms of cultural exchange programs, educational exchange, and Confucius institutes.

On one hand, in the economic cooperation between China and the V4 countries under the 17+1 platform, formal institutions lead to a more effective economic cooperation as the anarchic international environment is regulated, and institutions create order. In this formal institutional environment, the flow of information is much easier, both gathering and redistributing them, therefore all sides can reduce the level of uncertainty. Furthermore, the effective cooperation promoted by the formal institutions lead to higher gains, which by rational choice is the main goal of states in engaging in transnational cooperation. Formal institutions provide mental models which, in theory, are improving the quality of informal institutions.

On the other hand, informal institutions highly define the efficiency of formal institutions, and at this point the research completely agrees with the emphasizes North places on them. As the outcome of formal institutions are completely dependent on decisions by individual actors. Cultural heritage, social norms, are all controlling an individual's approach on common goals. In the case studies, this research highlighted, how corrupt actors in each country are. This high level of corruption will imply that actors will follow personal gains over common will. Furthermore, the lack of proper punishment supports the idea of personal gains as they by far exceed the level of retribution. Therefore, it can be concluded that informal institutions play a massive part in the efficiency of formal institutions and economic development. If both formal and informal institutions are functioning on the same high level, the environment they create will improve the quality of economic cooperation, thus creating economic development.

### 7 References

Acemoglu, D. & Robinson, J., 2008. "*The Role of Institutions in Growth and* Development". Commission on Growth and Development, pp. 1-24.

Acemoglu, D. &. R. J., 2008. "*The Role of Institutions in Growth and Development*"., Commission on Growth and Development, pp. 38-44.

Acemoglu, D. &. R. J. A., 2012. "Why Nations Fail: The Origins of Power, Prosperity, and Poverty".: Crown Publishing Group.

Agnes Szunomar, 2017. "Hungarian and Chinese economic relations and opportunities under the Belt and Road initiative". China - CEE Institute, 2560-1628(16)1, p. 4.

Agnes Szunomar, 2017. "Hungarian and Chinese economic relations and opportunities under the Belt and Road initiative. China - CEE Institute," 2560-1628(16)1, pp. 3-7.

AIIB, 2016. [Online] Available at: https://www.aiib.org/en/about-aiib/index.html

ASEAN, S. I. P., 2019. *ASEAN*. [Online] Available at: <u>https://asean.org/storage/2012/05/Overview-of-ASEAN-China-Relations-Jul-2019\_For-Web\_Rev.pdf</u> [Accessed: 15 11 2019].

Baliamoune-Lutz, M. a. N. L., 2007. "The Growth Effects of Openness to Trade and the Role of Institutions: New Evidence from African Countries". Economics Department Working Paper Series, (38)5.

Barbosa, F. d. H., 2018. "Macroeconomic Theory Fluctuations, Inflation and Growth in Closed and Open Economies". Rio de Janeiro: Springer.

Bieliński, T., Markiewicz, M. & Oziewicz, E., 2019. "Do Central and Eastern Europe Countries Play a Role in the Belt and Road Initiative?" The Case of Chinese OFDI into the CEE - 16 Countries. Comparative Economic Research. Central and Eastern Europe, pp. 1-16. Bonikowska, M. & Ostrowska, A., 2017. "Overview of economic relations between Poland and China, (In Comparing the Czech Polish Approach to China: Assessing both Challenges and Opportunities from a Security-Minded Perspective". China-CEE Institute. 15(2)

BTI, 2016. *Reports*. [Online] Available at: <u>https://www.bti-project.org/en/reports/country-reports/</u>

Cacrli, S., Kocan, F. & Pejic, N., 2019. "How can Central and Easteren European countries (CEECs), the European Union (EU) and EU member states (EU MS) address opportunities and challenges of the 17+1 Platform?" *Centre for European Perspective*, pp. 6.

Chang, H.-J. &. E. P., 2007. "The role of Institutions in Economic Change", UNU-WIDER.

Chang, H., 2002. "Breaking the Mould - An Institutionalist Political Economy Alternative to the Neo-Liberal Theory of the Market and the State". *Cambridge Journal of Economics*.

Chen Xin, 2012. "Trade and economic cooperation between China and CEE countries." *Working Paper Series on European studies, Institute of European Studies, Chinese Academy of Social Sciences,* 6(2).

China – Slovakia Economic & Cultural Exchange Promotion Association, 2019. *CSECEPA*. [Online] Available at: <u>http://csecepa.eu</u> [Accessed: 20 11 2019].

Claude Ménard, M. M. S., 2011. "The Contribution of Douglass North to New Institutional Economics." *Economic Institutions, Rights, Growth, and Sustainability: The Legacy of Douglass North.* 

Council of EU, 2018. *Majoritate calificata*. [Online] Available at: <u>https://www.consilium.europa.eu/ro/council-eu/voting-system/qualified-majority/#</u>

Czech Presidency, 2016. *Czech Presidency of the Visegrad Group - executive report*. [Online] Available at: <u>http://www.visegradgroup.eu/documents/annual-reports</u>

Daily, P., 2016. *Prague Daily Monitor:* [Online] Available at: <u>http://praguemonitor.com/2016/09/06/respekt-interior-ministry-rejects- cooperation-huawei</u> [Accessed: 11 03 2020].

Debiec, K. &. J. J., 2018. "Chinese Investments in the Czech Republic: changing the expansion model". *China CEE Institute Workin Paper*.

Deloitte, 2019. Chinese Investment in the Czech Republic, Prague: Deloitte.

Denzin, N. K. & Lincoln, Y. S., 2011. "The discipline and pracitce of qualitative research". In:.: Sage publication, pp. 53.

Dimitris Milonakis Ben Fine, 2003. "Douglass North's Remaking of Economic History: A Critical Appraisal", London: rrpe.

Dollar, D. &. K. A., 2003. "Institutions, Trade and Growth. *Journal of Monetary Economics*," 50(1), pp. 133-162.

Douglass C. North, 1990. "Institutions, Institutional Change, and Economic Performance". Cambridge: Cambridge Press. pp 36

Douglass C. North, 1990. "Institutions, Institutional Change, and Economic Performance." Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Douglass C. North, 1992. "Institutianal Change: A Frame of Analysis" St. Louis

Douglass C. North, 2003. "The New Institutional Economics and Changes., St. Louis: Washington University.

Douglass C. North, 2003. "*The Role of Institutions in Economic Development*". Geneva, United Nations Economic Commission for Europe.

Dragan, P., 2015. "China, the EU and One Belt, One Road Strategy". China Brief 15.

Embassy of Czech Republic in Beijing, 2018. *Mutual relations between the Czech Republic and the People's republic of China - present and history*. [Online] Available at: <u>https://www.mzv.cz/beijing/en/index.html</u> [Accessed: 03 2020].

Embassy of the Czech Republic, i. B., 2015. *Embassy of the Czech Republic in Beijing*. [Online] Available at:

https://www.mzv.cz/beijing/en/political\_affairs/bilateral\_relations/index.html [Accessed: 01 02 2020].

Embassy of the People's Republic of China, 2019. *china-embassy*. [Online] Available at: <u>http://au.china-embassy.org/eng/zgxw\_4/t1680763.htm</u> [Accessed: 13 11 2019].

Enterprise Surveys, 2013. [Online] Available at: https://www.enterprisesurveys.org/

Eszter Lukács – Katalin Völgyi, 2018. "China-Hungary economic relations under OBOR". *China CEE institue*, 2560-1263(37), pp. 15-17.

European Commission, 2014. "*Eurobarometer Special Surveys*." [Online] Available at: https://ec.europa.eu/commfrontoffice/publicopinion/archives/eb\_special\_399\_380\_en.htm

Fifekova, E. & Nemcova, E., 2015. "Impact of FDI on Economic Growth: Evidence from V4 Countries". *Pereiodica Plytechnica. Social and Management Sciences 23 (1).* 

Fojtikova, L. S. M. &. M. L., 2017. "Comparison of the Bilateral Trade Flows of the Visegrad Countries with China". *IntechOpen*, pp. 1-19.

Fojtikova, L., Stanickova, M. & Melecky, L., 2017. "Comparison of the Bilateral Trade Flows of the Visegrad Countries with China". *IntechOpen*, pp. 1-19.

Forbes, 2017. *The Chinese want to biuld power plants in Poland*. [Online] Available at: <u>https://www.forbes.pl/wiadomosci/chinczycy-chca-zbudowac-w-polsce-elektrownie/69v8m3f</u>

Gadzinowski, P., 2016. "China and Poland: a long and frendly history".

GAN Business Anti-Corruption Portal, 2018. *Slovakia Corruption Report*. [Online] Available at: <u>https://www.ganintegrity.com/portal/country-profiles/slovakia/</u> [Accessed: 12 11 2019].

GAN, 2017. *GAN Business Anti-Corruption Portal.* [Online] Available at: <u>https://www.ganintegrity.com/portal/country-profiles/czech-republic/</u> [Accessed: 10 04 2020].

GAN, 2017. *Hungary Corruption*. [Online] Available at: <u>http://gainintegrity.com/portal/country-profiles/hungary/</u> [Accessed: 08 11 2019].

GAN, 2018. *Poland Corruption Report*. [Online] Available at: <u>https://www.ganintegrity.com/portal/country-profiles/poland/</u>

Gergely Salát, 2009. A régi Kína története. Budapest: Elte Konfuciusz Intezet.

Gontkovicova, B., 2016. Assessment of FDI Attractiveness of V4 Countries. *University of Economics in Bratislava*, pp. 1-8.

Hauke Brunkhorst, 2007. "Globalizing Solidarity: The Destiny of Democratic Solidarity in the Times of Global Capitalism, Global Religion, and the Global Public". *Journal of Social Philosophy*, 38(1), pp. 93-111.

Heilbroner R. and W. Milberg, 1995. The crisis of vision in modern economic thought.. *Cambridge University Press.* 

Huang, Y. C. · L. S. · L., 2018. *The Belt & Road Initiative in the Global Arena : Chinese and European Perspectives*. Sanghai: Palgrave Macmillan.

Hungarian Embassy in Beijing, 2019. *Hungarian Embassy in Beijing*. [Online] Available at: <u>https://peking.mfa.gov.hu/eng/page/politikai-kapcsolatok</u> [Accessed: 2 11 2019].

Hungarian Presidency, 2019. *V4 Connects. Achievements of the 2017/18 Hungarian Presidency of the Visegrad Group.* [Online] Available at: http://www.visegradgroup.eu/documents/annual-reports [Accessed: 02 01 2020].

HVG, 2018. HVG. [Online] Available at:

https://hvg.hu/gazdasag/20180221\_transparency\_international\_korrupcio2017 [Accessed: 07 11 2019].

Information Office of the State Council, o. t. P. R. o. C., 2014. *Whitepapers*. [Online] Available at:

http://www.china.org.cn/government/whitepaper/node\_7209074.htm [Accessed: 12 11 2019].

Jakobowski, J. & Kaczmmarski, M., 2017. Beijing's mistaken offer: the 16+1 and China's policy towards the European Union. *OSW Commentary*.

Jakobowski, J., 2018. Chinese-led Regional Multilateralism in Central and Eastern Europe, Africa and Latin America: 16+1, FOCAC, and CCF. *Journal of Contemporary China, 27 (113)*, pp. 659-673.

John Seaman, M. H. M. O.-I., 2017. *Chinese Investment in Europe. A Country-Level Approach*, Brussels: ETNC Report.

Jusstyna Szczudlik, 2017. *Poland's Measured Approach to Chinese Investment*, Warsaw: China - CEE Institute.

Justyna Szczudlik, 2016. Poland in China's Foreign Policy - Not Only Economic. *The Polish Institute of International Affairs*, 38(1).

Kafkadesk, 2019. *Kafkadesk*. [Online] Available at: <u>https://kafkadesk.org/2019/02/14/czech-republic-chinas-gateway-to-europe-2-3-broken-promises/</u> [Accessed: 27 03 2020].

Keohane, R. O., 1984. *After Hegemony Cooperation and Discord in the World Political Economy*. New Jersey: Princeton University Press.

Kowalski, B., 2016. China's foreign policy towards Central and Eastern Europe: The "16+1" format in the South-South cooperation perspective. Cases of the Czech Republic and Hungary. *Cammbridge Journal of Eurasia Studies 1*.

Kristína Kironská and Richard Q. Turcsányi, 2017. Slovak policy towards China in the age of Belt and Road Initiative and 16+1 Format. *CEE Institute*, Issue 2, pp. 1-15.

Ladislav Zemánek, 2020. Czech Republic external relations briefing: Prague as the Capital of Regional Cooperation: V4+Austria Summit. *China* - *CEE Institute*, 26(4).

Lagazzi, A., 2018. V4-China relations: a lost opportunity or a new start?. *Think Visegrad*, pp. 1-6.

Lau, L. J., 2015. *The Sources of Chinese Economic Growth Since 1978*, Hong Kong: Institute of Global Economics and Finance.

Lau, S., 2020. *South China Morning Post*. [Online] Available at: <u>https://www.scmp.com/news/china/diplomacy/article/3045917/czech-president-skip-beijing-summit-over-china-</u>

investment?utm\_content=article&utm\_medium=Social&utm\_source=Facebook&fbclid=IwA R3oJQNGfNTOwyjnz2Gozr7FuCDC7HCV8Zx2LcPH\_7NgE-

<u>31Xqp1RtEY74E#Echobox=1578</u> [Accessed: 21 02 2020].

Lewer J. & Van den Berg, 2003. Does Trade Composition Influence Economic Growth?Time Series Evidence for 28 OECD and Developing Countries. *Journal of International Trade and Economic Development*, 12(1), pp. 39-96.

Li J, 2017. The 16 + 1 Mechanism and One Belt One Road Initiative, New Channels of Promoting Sino-Czech Relations.. *Global Economic Observer*, 5(1), pp. 159-166.

Li, X., 2019. Understanding the Multiple Facets of China's "One Belt One Road" Initiative. In: *Mapping China's 'One Belt One Road' Initiative*. Aalborg: Palgrave Macmillan, p. 30.

Lorrie Blair, 2016. Writing. In: *Writing a Graduate Thesis or Dissertation*. Rotterdam: Sense Publisher, p. 32.

Mackenzie, D. C., 2010. *A World beyond Borders: An Introduction to the History of International Organizations*. Toronto, University of Toronto Press.

Mearsheimer, J., 1994-1995. The False Promise of International Institutions. *International Security*, 19(3), pp. 5-26.

Mercy A. Kuo, 2017. *China in Easter Europe: Poland's Perspective*. [Online] Available at: <u>https://thediplomat.com/2017/12/china-in-eastern-europe-polands-perspective/</u>

Mina Baliamoune-Lutz, T. A., 2006. Economic Reform When Institutional Quality is Weak: The Case of the Maghreb. *Journal of Policy Modeling*, 28(9), pp. 1029-1043.

Ministry of Foreign Affairs of the PRC, 2013. *China and Poland*. [Online] Available at: <u>https://www.fmprc.gov.cn/mfa\_eng/wjb\_663304/zzjg\_663340/xos\_664404/gjlb\_664408/321</u> 0\_664710/

Ministry of Foreign Affairs of the PRC, 2014. *The Belgrade Guidelines for Cooperation between China and Central and Eastern European Countries*. [Online] Available at: <u>https://www.fmprc.gov.cn/mfa\_eng/zxxx\_662805/t1224905.shtml</u>

Ministry of Foreign Affairs Republic of Poland, 2017. *Polish Foreign Policy Strategy 2017-2021*, .:

Ministry of Foreign Affairs, o. t. C. R., 2015. *Concept of the Czech Republic's Foreign Policy*, Prague:

Ministry of Foreign Affairs, o. t. P. R. o. C., 2012. *Ministry of Foreign Affairs of the People's Republic of China*. [Online] Available at:

https://www.fmprc.gov.cn/mfa\_eng/topics\_665678/wjbispg\_665714/t928567.shtml [Accessed : 15 11 2019].

Ministry of Foreign Affairs, o. t. P. R. o. C., 2015. *The Suzhou Guidelines for Cooperation between China and Central and Eastern European Countries*. Beijing, The Suzhou Guidelines.

National Bank of Poland, 2018. *Statistics of Investment funds*. [Online] Available at: <u>https://www.nbp.pl/homen.aspx?f=/en/statystyka/sfi/sfi\_en.html</u> [Accessed: 15 02 2020].

Nemcova, E. F. &., 2015. Impact of FDI on Economic Growth: Evidence from V4 Countries. *Pereiodica Plytechnica. Social and Management Sciences*, 23(1).

North, D. C., 1990. *Institutions, Institutional Change, and Economic Performance*. Cambridge: Cambridge Press.

Observatori of Economic Complexity, (., 2020. *What does the Czech Republic import from China*. [Online] Available at:

https://oec.world/en/visualize/tree\_map/hs92/import/cze/chn/show/2017/ [Accessed: 12 04 2020].

Observatory of Ecnomic Complexity, (., 2020. *What does Hungary export to China?*. [Online] Available at:

https://oec.world/en/visualize/tree\_map/hs92/export/hun/chn/show/2017/ [Accessed: 21 04 2020].

Observatory of Ecnomic Complexity, (., 2020. *What is the trade balance for Hungary to China? (2003-2017)*. [Online] Available at:

https://oec.world/en/visualize/line/hs92/show/hun/chn/all/2003.2017/ [Accessed: 22 03 2020].

Observatory of Econmic Complexity, (., 2020. *What does Poland import from China*. [Online] Available at:

https://oec.world/en/visualize/tree\_map/hs92/import/pol/all/show/2017/ [Accessed: 02 05 2020].

Observatory of Economic Complexity, (., 2020. *Czech trade ballance with China*. [Online] Available at:

https://oec.world/en/visualize/line/hs92/show/cze/chn/all/2003.2017/ [Accessed: 01 03 2020].

Observatory of Economic Complexity, (., 2020. *OEC*. [Online] Available at: <u>https://oec.world/en/visualize/tree\_map/hs92/export/hun/chn/show/2017/</u> [Accessed: 21 01 2020].

Observatory of Economic Complexity, (., 2020. *Polish - Chinese tradebalance*. [Online] Available at:

https://oec.world/en/visualize/line/hs92/show/pol/chn/all/2003.2017/ [Accessed: 01 05 2020].

Observatory of Economic Complexity, (., 2020. *What does Hungary import from China?*. [Online] Available at:

https://oec.world/en/visualize/tree\_map/hs92/import/hun/chn/show/2017/ [Accessed: 21 04 2020].

Observatory of Economic Complexity, (., 2020. *What does Poland export to China*. [Online] Available at:

https://oec.world/en/visualize/tree\_map/hs92/export/pol/all/show/2017/ [Accessed: 02 05 2020].

Observatory of Economic Complexity, (., 2020. *What does Slovakia export to China?*. [Online] Available at:

https://oec.world/en/visualize/tree\_map/hs92/export/svk/chn/show/2017/ [Accessed: 03 05 2020].

Observatory of Economic Complexity, (., 2020. *What does Slovakia import from China?*. [Online] Available at:

https://oec.world/en/visualize/tree\_map/hs92/import/svk/chn/show/2017/ [Accessed: 03 05 2020].

Observatory of Economic Complexity, (., 2020. *What does the Czech Reoublic export to China*. [Online] Available at:

https://oec.world/en/visualize/tree\_map/hs92/export/cze/chn/show/2017/ [Accessed: 12 04 2020].

Observatory of Economic Complexity, (., 2020. *What is the trade balance for Slovakia to China*?. [Online] Available at:

https://oec.world/en/visualize/line/hs92/show/svk/chn/all/2003.2017/ [Accessed: 03 05 2020].

Observatory of Economic Complexity, 2020. *OEC Czech Imports*. [Online] Available at: <u>https://oec.world/en/profile/country/cze/#Imports</u> [Accessed: 01 04 2020].

OEC, 2019. What does Slovakia import from China?. [Képzőművészeti album] (OEC).

OECD, 2019. Infrastructure Investment.

Oehler-Şincai, 2018. Chinațs achievements in terms of developmen, a valuable asset influencing its perception in CEE. *China-CEE Institute, No. 33*, p. 1.

Oehler-Şincai, I. M., 2016. Country Report - A Romanian Perspective on the Opportunities and Challenges Linked to the Belt and Road and 16+1 Initiatives. *China, Joint Research Organizations*.

Orban, V., 2018. If EU doesn't pay, Hungary will turn to China. Budapest Business Journal.

Ostrom, E., 1990. *Governing the Commons: The Evolution of Institutions for Collective Action*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Ping, F., 2014. Chinese migrations in Poland. pp. 162-178.

Ping, H. & Zuokui, L., 2017. The Cooperation between Chin and Central and Eastern European Countries (16+1): 2012-2017.

Polish Presidency, 2017. *Report on the Polish Presidency of the Visegrad Group*. [Online] Available at: <u>http://www.visegradgroup.eu/documents/annual-reports</u>

PWC, 2017. *The Road Ahead. Cee Transport infrastructure dynamics*. [Online] Available at: <u>https://www.pwc.com/gx/en/industries/assets/the-road-ahead.pdf</u>

Radu, M., 2015. *The impact of political determinants on economic growth in CEE countries*.. , Procedia-Social and Behavioral Sciences.

Raisova, M., 2007. Foreign direct investment in conditions of the Slovak Republic. *Contemporary Challenges of Theory and Practice in Economics, University of Belgrade,* pp. 287 - 293.

Reinalda, B., 2009. *outledge History of International Organizations: From 1815 to the Present Day.*. London: Routledge.

Reuters, 2014. *China-CEE, Israeli Enlight to invest \$406 mln in Polish wind farms*. [Online] Available at: <u>https://www.reuters.com/article/windfarm-enlight-renew-jointventure/china-cee-israeli-enlight-to-invest-406-mln-in-polish-wind-farms-idUSL5N0R249M20140901</u>

Reuters, 2019. *Poland open to investment from China: foreign minister*. [Online] Available at: <u>https://www.reuters.com/article/us-poland-china/poland-open-to-investment-from-china-foreign-minister-idUSKCN1U31LR</u>

Reuters, 2020. *reuters.com*. [Online] Available at: <u>https://www.reuters.com/article/us-china-czech/czech-prime-minister-says-chinas-ambassador-should-be-replaced-idUSKBN20W1EH</u> [Accessed: 14 04 2020].

Richard Q. Turcsanyi, 2016. *Central European attitudes towards Chinese energy investments: The cases of Poland, Slovakia, and the Czech Republic,* Budapest: China - CEE institue.

Robinson James, 2008. The Role of Institutions in Growth and Development. *Commission on Growth and Development Working Paper*, 10. kötet.

Ruhling, T., Jerden, N., Seaman, J. O.-I. M. & Ekman, A., 2018. Political values in Europe-China relations. *European Think-Thank Network on China*, pp. 67-70.

Sabina Carli Faris Kocan Nina Pejic, 2019. How can Central Eastern European Countries, the European Union, and EU member countries adress opportunities and challenges of the 17+1 platform. *Centre for European Perspective*, pp. 23-26.

Sabina Carli Faris Kocan Nina Pejic, 2019. How can Central Eastern European countries, the European Union, and other European Member states adress opportunities and challenges of the 17+1 platform?. *Centre for European Perspective*, p. 41.

Sabina Carli, F. K. N. P., 2019. How can Central and Eastern European countries, the European Union, and EU member states adress opportunities and challenges of the 17+1 platform. *Centre for European Perspective*, p. 5.

Sabina Carli, F. K. N. P., 2019. How can Central and Eastern European countries, the European Union, and EU member states adress opportunities and challenges of the 17+1 platform. *Centre for European Perspective*, p. 61.

Šimalčík, M., 2018. Multilateralism as a tool in Slovak China policy: The case of 16+1, V4+China, and EU+China. *CEE Institute*, ISSN: 2560-1628(18), pp. 1-12.

Simionescu, M. és mtsai., 2017. Determinants of Economic Growth in V4 Countries and Romania. *Journal of Competiveness, Vol. 9*, pp. 103-116.

Simionescu, M. L. K. S. G. D. K. &. B. A. P., 2017. Determinants of Economic Growth in V4 Countries and Romania. *Journal of Competiveness*, 9. kötet, pp. 103-116.

Slovak Presidency, 2015. *Report of the Slovak Presidency of the Visegrad Group (July 2014 - June 2015)*. [Online] Available at: <u>http://www.visegradgroup.eu/documents/annual-reports</u>

Stanzel, 2016. China's investment in influence: the future of 16+1 cooperation. China Analysis, 199 (8), pp. 1-16.

Stanzel, A., Holbig, H. M. J. C. & Sautin, Y., 2017. China's New Era with Xi Jinping characteristics. *European Council on Foreign Relations*.

Svetličič, M., 2019. China and Central and Eastern European Countries within '16+1': Group or Bilateral Relations. *Centre of International Relations*.

Szunomar, A., 2014. *hinese investments and financial engagement in Visegrad countries: myth or reality?*. Budapest, Institute of World Economics, Center for Economic and Regional Studies of the Hungarian Academy of Sciences.

Tamas Matura, 2017. Chinese Investment in Hungary: Few Results but Great Expectations. In: J. S. M. H. M. Otero-Iglesias, szerk. *Chinese Investment in Europe A Country-Level Approach*. Budapest: A Report by the European Think-tank Network on China (ETNC), pp. 75-81.

The Guardian, 2017. [Online].

The Guardian, 2019. *Poland arrests Huawei worker on allegations of spying for China*. [Online] Available at: <u>https://www.theguardian.com/technology/2019/jan/11/huawei-employee-arrested-in-poland-over-chinese-spy-allegations</u>

The State Council, o. t. P. R. o. C., 2019. *whitepapers*. [Online] Available at: <u>http://english.www.gov.cn</u> [Accessed: 2020].

The Visegrad Group, —. C. E. C., 2019. *Visegradgroup*. [Online] Available at: <u>http://www.visegradgroup.eu/history/history-of-the-visegrad</u> [Accessed: 20 01 2020].

Transparency International, 2019. *Slovakia Report*. [Online] Available at: <u>https://www.transparency.org/country/SLK</u> [Accessed: 12 11 2019].

Transparency International, 2019. *Transparency International*. [Online] Available at: <u>https://www.transparency.org/country/HUN#</u> [Accessed: 16 11 2019].

Treaty of Lisabona, 2007. *Official Journal of the European Union*. [Online] Available at: <u>http://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/</u>

Turcsanyi, R., 2014. China and the Visegrad countries: Politcies, goals and discrepencies.

Turcsanyi, R., 2018. What to Expect at the 2018 China-CEE 16+1 Summit.

Vangeli, A., 2017. China's Engagement with the Sixteen Countries of Cenrral, East and Southeast Europe under the Belt and Road Initiative. *China and World Economy, 25 (5)*, pp. 3-27.

Wang, Y., 2018. *Wang Yi dispels EU's worries over China's 16+1 cooperation*. [Online] Available at: <u>https://www.chinadailyhk.com/articles/0/166/66/1527835399475.html</u>

Wang, Y., 2018. *Wang Yi Meets with Deputy Foreign Ministres of V4 Countries*. [Online] Available at:

https://www.fmprc.gov.cn/mfa\_eng/zxxx\_662805/t1545685.shtml#:~:targetText=China%20h as%20always%20attached%20great,development%20of%20China%2DEurope%20relations. &targetText=The%20V4%20consists%20of%20four,Republic%2C%20Hungary%2C%20and %20Slovakia.

Wang, Y., 2018. *Wang Yi*. [Online] Available at: <u>https://www.chinadailyhk.com/articles/143/108/111/1521777393718.html</u>

Wei Li, 2009. *Institutions, Institutional Change, and Economic Performance, Virginia:* Darden Business Publishing.

World Ecocnomic Forum, 2019. Competitiveness Report - Transport infrastructure.

World Economic Forum, 2017. The Global Competitiveness Report, Cologne: WEF.

WTO, 2019. *World Trade Organization*. [Online] Available at: <u>https://www.wto.org/english/thewto\_e/countries\_e/china\_e.htm</u> [Accessed: 10 11 2019].

Zhifei, S., 2018. *Ministry of Foreign Affairs of the PRC*. [Online] Available at: <u>https://www.fmprc.gov.cn/mfa\_eng/wjb\_663304/zwjg\_665342/zwbd\_665378/t1581767.shtml</u> [Accessed: 13 11 2019].

## 8 Appendix

### 8.1 Appendix 1



Individual collection of data, obtained from World Integrated Trade Solution and Eurostat



### 8.2 Appendix 2

Czech import / export with China, the red line indicates imports, while the blue one stands for exports. (Observatory of Economic Complexity, 2020)

## 8.3 Appendix 3

TOTAL: \$2.68B												
Liquid Pumps				Valves	Metal Finishing Machines	Vehicle Parts			Non-Optical Microscopes			
5.8%	<b>4.6</b> Electrical Capacitors	<b>Office</b>		<b>2.9%</b>		9.	3%		Gas and 0.84% Medical Instruments			
Insulated Wire	Electrical Capacitors	Office Machin	ie	Telephone	is I	Rubber Tires	Other		Dissolving	Detonating		
2.3%						1.6%	0.71%		Grades Chemical	Fuses		
Electrical Power Accessories	Video Recording					Other Plastic Products			chenncat	1.2%		
1.9%									3.8%			
Air Pumps	Engine Parts	Compute	ers			Seats	Models and Stuffed		3.070			
1.7%												
Electrical Control Boards	Machinery Having	Centrifu	uges			1.9%	1.6%					
1.7%		Air Conditio				Scrap Copper			Hops			
Knitting Machine Accessories	Electric Motors								nop5			
1.6%	1.4%	Industria Furnaces				Iron			Frunks			

Czech exports to China in 2017 (Observatory of Economic Complexity, 2020)

### 8.4 Appendix 4

TOTAL: \$19.9B											
Broadcasting	<b>Office Machine</b>				Broadcasting Accessories		Models and Stuffed Animals				
Equipment	Parts						1.4%				
							Other.				
19%	Integrated Circuits		Printed Circuit	Electric Motors			0.97%				
Computers	Electrical Transformers	Microphones	s Air Pumps			Textile Ru	bber				
		Video				Footwear					
	Telephones										
		Electrical Control				Vehicle Parts					
160/	Insulated Wire	Electric Heaters				1.1%					
	Blank Audio	Industrial Printers									

Czech Imports from China 2017 (Observatori of Economic Complexity, 2020)

## 8.5 Appendix 5



Hungary – China trade balance (Observatory of Ecnomic Complexity, 2020)

### 8.6 Appendix 6

Spark-	Computers	Electrical Control Boards	Valves	Engine Parts	Navigation Equipment	Video Recording Equipment	Liquid Pumps	Integrated Circuits	Other Measuring Instruments	Thermostats	Package Medican	
Ignition									instruments			
igintion		Office Machine	Other Heating Machinery	Gas Turbine	is Oth	Sf						
	Low-Voltage Protection Equipment		Electrical Power Accessories	Semiconductor I	Devices	hinery			2.4%	2.2%	2.9	%
7.5%		Insulated Wire	0.87% Electric Motors	Microphones and	d Met				Oscilloscope			
Electrical Transformers	Transmissions			Electric Generati	ing Oth	er			1.2%		0.40% Human or	
0.404		Air Pumps	Centrifuges	Electrical Lightin	Ig				Chemical Analysis Instrur	nents	Animal	
3.1%	1.7%	1.1%	0.82%		Elec	trical			0.83%			
Cars						Veł	nicl	e	Other Plastic Products		Pig	Edible Offal
						Parts			0.76%			
						rai	LS		Rubber Tires		1.2%	0.68%
									Iron Fasteners In	on		
						5	.29	1	0.60%	etaL	Glass	
						J	• 4 /	0	Scrap Copper			
						Locomoti	ve Parts	Trailers	Seats 0.74%	Sports	Toilet	
	30%	0				1.	5%	0.45%	U.7476 Models and Stuffed Animals	0.44%	Wine	

Hungarian export to China (Observatory of Ecnomic Complexity, 2020)

### 8.7 Appendix 7

Telephones	Broadcasting Equipment		Computers		Printed Circuit		Lcds				Other Iron Products	
					Boards						0.99%	
11%	Electrical	Low-Voltage Protection Equipment	Other Dome: Electri	stic	Electrical Control Boards	Electrical Ignitions	Metal Molds		8.3	Eyewear		
Office Machine	Transformers	1.0%			0.82%		0.67%	Optical Fibers Medical Instrument	Lenses	Frames		
Parts	L.U /O	Electric Motors 0.66%	Navigation Equipment	Gas Turbin 0.62		Air Pumps 0.59%	Engine Parts 0.59%	Amine Compounds			Light Fixtures	Vehicle Parts
9.2%	1.7%	Blank Audio Mee			Video Displays			Nitrogen Heterocyclic Compounds			0.75%	1.3% Trailers
Broadcasting	Integrated Circuits	Valves 0.56% Semiconductor	0.44 Ball Bear		2% 0.42% Audio Alarms			House Linens Non-Retail Synthetic				
Accessories	Electric Heaters	Electromagn	Liquid		Electrical			Non-Knit	Rubber		Trunks and Cases 0.72%	Rubber
8.5%	1.370 Microphones and Headphones	Other Electrical.	Electri Batteri  Filame	c s	Spark			Products	0.42% Plastic Lids			

Hungarian import from China (Observatory of Economic Complexity, 2020)



## 8.8 Appendix 8

Polish-Chinese trade balance, red indicates imports, blue stands for exports (Observatory of Economic Complexity, 2020)

## 8.9 Appendix 9

				TOTAL: \$	5224B			
Office Machine	Broadcasting Equipment			Coated Hot- Flat Rolled Iron	Packaged Medicaments		Other Plastic	
				0.79%	2.0%		0.78%	
			1.1%					
Insulated Wire				Iron				
				Large				
Engine Parts				Other				
Blank Audio Media	Liquid Pumps							
Low-Voltage Protection	Electrical			Crude	Coal	Pig Meat		
Gas Turbines	Other			Crude Petroleum	AnimaL	0.69%		
Valves				2 70/				
Video Displays				3.7%				4
Cars		Tractors	Delivery Trucks	Refined Petroleum	Video and Card Games			
	1.00/	0.86%	0.76%	Non	Seats			
	4.0%	Planes,		Non				
Vehicle P	arts	Passenger		Knit				Ļ
	3.4%							

Polish import from China (Observatory of Econmic Complexity, 2020)

## 8.10 Appendix 10

			ΤΟΤΑ	L: \$2.5	9B				
Refined Copper				Scrap Copper		Vehicle	Syr Rul	nthetic bber	
							2	.6%	
				0.63%		6.8%	Rubbe		
							Scrap.		
	25	0/_				Other Furniture	1	Whey	
		/0				3.7%		1.1%	
Electrical Transformers	Insulated Wire	Telephones				Seats			
						2.6%		Malt	
	Electrical Control	Machinery	Electric			Packaged		Extract	
Textile Processing			Centrifuges						
	Gas Turbines	Computers				Nitrogen			
Low- Voltage Protection			Steam			Heterocyclic		Sawn Wood	
	Office Machine Parts	Engine	Electrical		4	Chemical Analysis			
Electric Filament	Valves		Metal						
1.3%	VALVES	Transmissions	Electric			Medical Instruments			

Polish exports to China (Observatory of Economic Complexity, 2020)

### 8.11 Appendix 11



8.12 Appendix 12



Slovakian import from China (Observatory of Economic Complexity, 2020)

# 8.13 Appendix 13

Cars	Vehicle Parts	Engine Parts	Electrical Lighting and Signalling Equipmen	Ai Pu	r Imps	
		2.8%				1.3%
		Ball Bearings	Liquid Pumps	Integrated Circuits	Central Heating Boilers	Machinery Having
		1.2%				0.52%
		Electrical Transformers	Electric			
		1.1%	Electric			
		Insulated Wire	Electrical Contro Boards			
		1.1%	Metal Finishing Machines	Valves		
		Centrifuges	Machines Knitting Machine Accessories			
		Other FurnitureRingson Aussen 0.541.3%Seats	nd ents % 0.499	6	Rough	
64%	6.5%	MetaL.	0.38% Other Rubber Products			

Slovakian export to China (Observatory of Economic Complexity, 2020)